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  I believe that the true measure  
of an individual’s success is what  
he or she leaves behind. 

In my tenure as a Board member of Pacific Blue Cross since 
its inception in 1997, and now as Chair, I have witnessed its 
evolution into the exemplary organization it is today. 

While our financial growth under Ken Martin’s past 
decade of leadership speaks for itself, it is the integrity, 
honesty and sense of family that Ken has fostered in this 
organization that gives us a great sense of pride.

In 2012, Pacific Blue Cross was honoured by the Burnaby 
Board of Trade for being the Family Friendly Employer of 
the Year. The Community Connection Health Foundation 
delivered on its charter to support grassroots programs 
in the fields of chronic disease and mental health, 
awarding grants totaling close to $223,000 to several 
worthy charities.  

Staff inside our organization devoted personal time to 
volunteer for causes in child and family health, cancer 
research and environmental responsibility. 

And that brings me to one of our most significant 
milestones since Ken joined Pacific Blue Cross – and 
that is his announcement that he will retire at the end of 
September, 2013. 

I believe that the true measure of an individual’s success 
is what he or she leaves behind. If our culture under Ken’s 
leadership is any indication, his success is immeasurable.

Ken has left a remarkable stamp on this organization 
– from building a stable financial foundation for us 
to flourish and serve our communities, to creating an 
environment of collaboration and caring. Ken’s legacy will 
be evident at Pacific Blue Cross for years to come.

Our responsibility as Board members is to serve the 
interests of Pacific Blue Cross, offer balanced opinion and 
be diligent in fulfilling our fiduciary responsibilities. Ken 
made our jobs much easier. In my years on the Board I have 
never seen such strong leadership at any organization. Ken 
approached every meeting with complete transparency 
and integrity and kept us totally informed along the way. It 
is the same respect he gives to each and every Pacific Blue 
Cross member, client and employee.  

Pacific Blue Cross and all of us on the Board are dedicated 
to helping our people manage and embrace the changes 
ahead in 2013. We ask from you, our members and 
stakeholders, to support us and our entire staff as we 
transition to a new chief executive officer.

Dr. Malcolm Williamson, Chair of the Board of Directors

Message from the Chair
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  It has been a wonderful, exciting, 
challenging and rewarding 10 years. 
I would like to take this opportunity 
to reflect on the last decade and 
what we have achieved. 

Message from the President and CEO
At the end of 2012, I celebrated my 10th anniversary 
with the Society. It has been a wonderful, exciting, 
challenging and rewarding 10 years. I would like to take 
this opportunity to reflect on the last decade and what 
we have achieved.

But first, let’s look at the accomplishments of 2012. 
Financially, we had a modest growth of 2.6% in billings 
but our $25 million surplus for the year was one of the 
best in our history. It was driven largely by the success of 
our investment portfolio which had a net return for the 
year of $23 million.

In 2012, we were excited to receive the Family Friendly 
Employer of the Year Award from the Burnaby Board of 
Trade in recognition of Pacific Blue Cross being a great 
place to work.

We were successful in selling our mobile travel app (the 
first of its kind in the country) to two other Blue Cross 
organizations in Canada. We also concluded the first sale 
of our proprietary ACES system which will go-live in the 
Fall of 2013.

Also on the technology front, in response to requests 
from our clients to help them reduce the cost of their 
drug benefit programs, we introduced the Pharmacy 
Compass - an online tool that anybody in BC can use 
to find the lowest prices for prescription drugs in 
their neighborhoods.  

We launched the mobile version of CARESnet which, 
among other things, will allow members to submit 
certain claims directly from their cell phones.

In 2012 we introduced a free health and wellness website 
site called My Good Health to assist our members in 
achieving their desired health objectives.

Now, let me reflect back on the past decade.

On the financial side, our billings have grown by 48% 
(from $867M to $1,280M) and our net assets have 
grown by 230% (from $52M to $172M). Our Minimum 
Continuing Capital and Surplus Requirement (MCCSR) 
has increased from 189% to 274.07% demonstrating 
significant improvement in our financial stability.

We have focused our growth on our individual business 
which has grown from $18 million to $43 million over the 
period and our travel business has grown from $800,000 
to $7 million in the same period.

Our subsidiary BC Life business has grown from 
$40 million to $71 million.

Our investment portfolio has grown from $80 million to 
$309 million.

On the technology front, we have replaced all of our 
systems with the exception of our core health and dental 
systems (ACES) scheduled for replacement in the second 
half of 2013. When complete, our system will arguably 
be the most modern in the Canadian market. It will have 
a life expectancy of more than 10 years and reduce the 
number of supported 
applications from 
more than  
50 to 25.  
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At the outset of this message I said this has been a 
wonderful and rewarding decade for Pacific Blue Cross 
and for me personally. And I see many exciting and 
rewarding things in the future for the Society. But it’s 
time for me to move on. 

At the end of 2012, I advised our Board of Directors of 
my desire to retire at the end of September, 2013. As I 
write this message, the formal search for a new CEO is 
getting underway.

Although I will continue to actively lead the organization 
throughout most of 2013, this will be my last Annual 
Report Message. I want to take this opportunity to thank 
our Boards of Directors for their support over the past 
10 years; my colleagues on our executive committee 
who have worked collaboratively and as a team for the 
betterment of the Society; our 700+ employees who 
work hard every day to provide the very best service 
possible to our members, and our union executive for 
their support and commitment to the Society and to 
our members.

Thank you for allowing me the opportunity to lead such 
a great organization.

Sincerely,

Ken Martin, President and CEO

Importantly, this $100 million investment gives us a 
platform on which we can build more customer facing, 
user friendly functionality and faster and better service. 
Internally, it will drive increased operational efficiency.  

Over the period, we successfully concluded three 
4-year agreements with our union, CUPE 1816. Working 
collaboratively with members of the union executive, we 
reached these agreements without any disruption to the 
services we offer to our members in demonstration of 
the excellent relationship that exists. 

But there are two achievements of which I am most 
proud. 

The first was the introduction of the Reach Your Potential 
Scholarship Program. For many years Pacific Blue Cross 
has supported students at BC’s leading post secondary 
schools by providing scholarships; but the Reach Your 
Potential Program was designed specifically to support 
the children of our employees. Since its introduction, 
we have provided more than $100,000 in scholarship 
support for these high-achieving students.

The second is the creation of the Pacific Blue Cross 
Community Connection Foundation in support of 
mental health and chronic disease. In 2012 we set aside 
another $4 million, to reach a total of $10 million at the 
end of 2012, and dedicated the investment earnings 
to support BC charities with these areas of focus. The 
Foundation Board consists of an equal number of 
employees and members of our Board of Directors. Over 
the past decade, Pacific Blue Cross has donated more 
than $1 million to support BC charities. 

  I want to take this opportunity to thank our Boards 
of Directors for their support over the past 10 years; my 
colleagues on our executive committee who have worked 
collaboratively and as a team for the betterment of the Society; 
our 700+ employees who work hard every day to provide the 
very best service possible to our members, and our union 
executive for their support and commitment to the Society and 
to our members.
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Responsibility for the Annual Report
The management of PBC Health Benefits Society is 
responsible for the integrity and fair presentation of the 
financial statements and other information in the Annual 
Report. The complete financial statements are prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, include amounts based on estimates and 
judgements. Financial information and operating data 
presented elsewhere in this Annual Report are consistent 
with that in the complete financial statements.

PBC Health Benefits Society maintains systems of 
internal accounting and administrative controls which 
provide management with reasonable assurance that 
assets are safeguarded and reliable financial records 
are maintained. This system includes written policies 
and procedures, an organizational structure that 
segregates duties and a program of periodic audits by 
internal auditors.

The Appointed Actuary is appointed by the Board of 
Directors to carry out an annual valuation of the policy 
liabilities. In performing this valuation, the Appointed 
Actuary makes assumptions as to future rates of interest, 
mortality, morbidity, expenses, inflation, reinsurance 
recoveries, and other contingencies, taking into account 
the circumstances of the Society and the policies in force. 
The Appointed Actuary is responsible for ensuring that 
these assumptions and the methods for the valuation 
of policy liabilities are in accordance with accepted 
actuarial practice, applicable legislation, and associated 
regulations and directives, and is required to provide an 
opinion on the appropriateness of the policy liabilities 
at the balance sheet date to meet all policyholder 
obligations of PBC Health Benefits Society. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent auditor, 
has been appointed to express an opinion as to whether 
these financial statements fairly present the Society’s 
financial position and operating results in all material 
respects in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. 

The Appointed Actuary and independent auditor 
may consider each other’s work in discharging their 
respective responsibilities.

The Board of Directors has reviewed and approved these 
financial statements. To assist the Board in meeting its 
responsibility, it has appointed an Audit Committee, 
comprised entirely of independent Directors. The 
committee meets periodically with management, the 
internal auditors and the independent auditors to 
review internal accounting controls, audit results and 
accounting principles and practices.

John Crawford, CA
Chief Financial Officer & Senior Vice President
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Appointed Actuary’s Report 
February 27, 2013
To the members of PBC Health Benefits Society:
I have valued the actuarial liabilities for insurance 
contracts, reinsurance assets and other contract liabilities 
of PBC Health Benefits Society for its consolidated 
balance sheets as at December 31, 2012, and their 
change in the statement of income and comprehensive 
income for the year then ended, in accordance with 
accepted actuarial practice, including selection of 
appropriate assumptions and methods.

In my opinion, the amount of actuarial liabilities and 
other insurance contract liabilities makes appropriate 
provision for all policyholder obligations and the 
financial statements fairly present the results of 
the valuation.

Wendy Harrison, FCIA 
Eckler Ltd
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Independent Auditor’s Report
February 27, 2013
To the members of PBC Health Benefits Society:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements of PBC Health Benefits Society 
and its subsidiaries (operating as Pacific Blue Cross), 
which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 
December 31, 2012 and the consolidated statements of 
changes in equity, income and comprehensive income 
and cash flow for the year ended, and the related notes, 
which comprise a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated 
financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of these consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of PBC Health Benefits Society and its 
subsidiaries as at December 31, 2012 and their financial 
performance and their cash flows for the years then 
ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants
Vancouver, BC



Consolidated Balance Sheet 
(in thousands of dollars) 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

    As at Dec. 31 As at Dec. 31    
  2012 2011   
 
Assets 
Property and equipment (note 10)  $5,496 $6,050    

Intangible assets (note 11) 63,815 52,617   

Investments (note 6) 147,113 139,335   

PIMCO investments (note 5) 162,914 158,183   

Deferred tax assets  599 432   

Amounts due from reinsurers (note 7) 64,884 60,871   

Trade and other receivables (note 8) 35,817 34,463   

Current tax receivable - 1,052    

Prepaid expenses (note 9) 3,324 2,916    

Cash and cash equivalents (note 6) 44,223 34,041   

Total assets $528,185 $489,960     
 

Liabilities and Equity 
Insurance liabilities (note 4 and 12) $126,847 $117,090   

Members’ dues received in advance (note 13) 9,910 7,768   

Income tax payable 154 - 

Trade and other payables (note 14) 186,227 175,833  

PIMCO investments (note 5) 1,313 12,956 

Employee benefits (note 17) 31,505 29,379  

Total liabilities $355,956 $343,026  
 
Equity 

Other reserves (note 2.3) $10,000 $6,000  
Retained earnings 162,229 140,934  

Total equity $172,229 $146,934  
 
Total liabilities and equity $528,185 $489,960  

 
Commitments (note 16) 
Contingencies (note 22) 
Approved by the Board of Directors 

                                                        
Dr. Malcolm Williamson, Chair of the Board of Directors           John Hope, Director, Chair, Joint Audit Committee 
 



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the years ended December 31 
(in thousands of dollars) 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

 
  Other reserves Retained earnings  Total equity  
 
Balance at December 31, 2010 $6,000 $141,400 $147,400 
 
Income for the year - 1,260 1,260  
 
Other comprehensive loss - (1,726) (1,726) 
 
 
Balance at December 31, 2011 $6,000 $140,934 $146,934 
 
Income for the year - 26,215 26,215 
 
Other comprehensive loss - (920) (920) 
 
Transfer to Reserve (note 2.3) 4,000 (4,000)    - 
 

Balance at December 31, 2012 $10,000 $162,229 $172,229 
 
 
Other reserves (note 2.3) 
 



Consolidated Statement of Income and 
Comprehensive Income 
For the years ended December 31 
(in thousands of dollars) 

 

 
  2012 2011  
 
Billings processed (note 2.16) $1,280,390 $1,249,684  

 
Revenue: 

Premium revenue $290,154 $251,143  
Premiums ceded to reinsurers (17,733) (16,983)  
Net insurance premiums $272,421 $234,160  
 
Fees from self-insured plans $36,797 $36,981 
Investment income / (loss)(note 6) 15,189 (1,453)  
Investment income / (loss) PIMCO (note 5) 8,368 (1,859)  
Commissions earned from reinsurers 3,393 3,502  
Other income 2,787 1,590  

Total revenues $338,955 $272,921  
 
Claims and expenses: 

Insurance claims incurred (note 7 and 12) $216,462 $181,334  
General and administrative costs (note 19) 84,557 81,258  
Commissions and premium taxes 10,568 8,755  
Total claims and expenses $311,587 $271,347  
 

Income before tax $27,368 $1,574  

Income tax (1,153) (314)  

Net income $26,215 $1,260   
 
Other comprehensive loss: 

Pension plan and post-retirement benefits actuarial adjustment (920) (1,726)  
(note 18) 

   

Comprehensive income/ (loss) $25,295 $(466)  
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow 
For the years ended December 31 
(in thousands of dollars) 

 

 
   2012 2011 
Cash flows from operating activities  
Net income for the year $26,215 $1,260 
Adjustments for   

Amortisation of property and equipment (note 10) 1,640 1,519 
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 11) 2,895 2,430 
Loss on disposal of property and equipment - 2 
Proceeds from sale of investments 27,802 17,433 
Purchase of investments (23,431) (36,174) 
Purchase of PIMCO (12,286) - 
Realised and unrealised (gain) / loss on investments – net (note 6) (12,186) 4,811 
Realised and unrealised (gain) / loss on PIMCO fund - net (note 5) (4,082) 5,680 
Deferred taxes (168) (63) 
Amortisation of net premiums/discounts on bonds 23 29 
Employee benefits (note 17) 1,206 1,682 
Tax expense 1,321 377 

 $8,949 $(1,014) 
Changes in non-cash working capital   

Trade and other receivables (note 8) (1,350) (7,367) 
Amounts due from reinsurers (note 7) (4,013) (4,623) 
Prepaid expenses (note 9) (408) 239 
Trade and other payables (note 14) 7,920 11,990 
Insurance liabilities (note 12) 9,732 11,848 
Members’ dues received in advance (note 13) 2,142 1,124 
Income taxes paid (116) (633) 

 $13,907 $12,578 

 $22,856 $11,564 
Cash flows from investing activities   
Purchases of property, equipment and intangible assets – net (15,179) (16,572) 
   
   
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents $7,677 $(5,008)

   
Cash and cash equivalents (deficit) - Beginning of year (10,008) (5,000)
   
Cash and cash equivalents (deficit) - End of year $(2,331) $(10,008)
   Represented by:   
Cash and cash equivalents (note 6) 44,223 34,041 
Outstanding cheques (note 14) (46,554) (44,049) 

$(2,331) $(10,008)

Interest paid $883 $796 
Interest received $413 $635 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2012 
(in thousands of dollars) 
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1. Background 

PBC Health Benefits Society (“the Society”) (operating as Pacific Blue Cross) is incorporated and governed by 
the British Columbia Society Act (and licensed under the Financial Institutions Act of British Columbia) in 
Canada.  The Society is a not-for-profit organisation and is engaged in the business of providing extended 
health and dental benefits to its members. Through its wholly owned subsidiary, British Columbia Life & 
Casualty Company (“BC Life”), the Society provides life and accidental death and dismemberment (“AD&D”) 
insurance; short-term and long-term disability coverage; critical illness coverage; individual life; trip cancellation; 
and baggage insurance. The Society is licenses in British Columbia and Yukon Territories.  The Society and 
BC Life are the sole investors in the PIMCO Canadian Tactical Bond Fund (“PIMCO Fund”) which is 
consolidated into these financial statements and disclosed in notes 5 and 24 through 35.  The PIMCO Fund’s 
objective is to seek absolute positive investment performance over a business cycle, with bond market-like 
volatility, consistent with prudent investment management. 

The Society is registered under the Income Tax Act as a not-for-profit society and, as such, is exempt from 
income tax.  BC Life, which is incorporated under the British Columbia Life & Casualty Company Act of 1958, is 
subject to federal and provincial income taxes. The address of the registered office of the Society and BC Life 
is 4250 Canada Way, Burnaby, British Columbia, Canada. 

These consolidated financial statements have been authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on February 
27th, 2013 who has sole authority to approve them.  The Board has the authority to amend the financial 
statements after issue. 



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2012 
(in thousands of dollars) 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set 
out below.  These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.  
Accounting policies relating to the PIMCO Fund are set out in notes 5, 24 through 35. 
 
2.1 Basis of presentation 

These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS as defined by International 
Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 1. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified 
by the revaluation of financial assets at fair value through income and employee benefit obligations. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates.  It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying 
the Society’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or 
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are 
disclosed below and in note 3. 
 
All amounts in the notes are shown in thousands of Canadian dollars rounded to the nearest thousand, 
unless otherwise stated. 

 
(a) Standards and amendments to published standards and interpretations early adopted by the Society. 

 
In 2012, the Society did not early adopt any new, revised or amended standards. 
 
(b) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have 
not been early adopted by the Society. 

 
The following standards and amendments to existing standards have been published and are mandatory 
for the Society’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January, 2013 or later periods, but the Society 
has not early adopted them: 
 
Standard/ 
Interpretation 

 
 
Content 

Applicable for 
financial years 
beginning on/after 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January, 2015 
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 1 January, 2013 
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 1 January, 2013 
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 1 January, 2013 
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 1 January, 2013 

 
� IFRS 9, Financial instruments 

IFRS 9 was issued in November 2009. It addresses classification and measurement of financial 
assets and replaces the multiple category and measurement models in International Accounting 
Standards (“IAS”) 39, for debt instruments with a new mixed measurement having only two 
categories: Amortised cost and fair value through income. IFRS 9 also replaces the models for 
measuring equity instruments and such measurements are either recognised at fair value through 
income or at fair value through Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”). Where such equity 
investments are measured at fair value through OCI, dividends, to the extent not clearly 
representing a return on investment, are recognised in income; however, other gains and losses 



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2012 
(in thousands of dollars) 
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(including impairments) associated with such instruments remain in Accumulated Other 
Comprehensive Income (“AOCI”) indefinitely. This standard is required to be applied for accounting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January, 2015. The Society has not yet assessed the impact of the 
standard. 
 

� IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements 
IFRS 10 requires an entity to consolidate an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable 
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the investee.  Under existing IFRS, consolidation is required when an entity has the 
power to govern financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its 
activities. IFRS 10 replaces Standing Interpretations Committee (“SIC”) 12, Consolidation – Special 
Purpose Entities and parts of IAS 27, Consolidation and Separate Financial Statements.  The 
Society has not yet assessed the impact of the standard. 
 

� IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements 
IFRS 11 requires a venturer to classify its interest in a joint venture arrangement as a joint venture 
or joint operation. Joint ventures will be accounted for using the equity method of accounting 
whereas for a joint operation the venturer will recognise its share of the assets, liabilities, revenue 
and expenses of the joint operation. Under existing IFRS, entities have the choice to proportionately 
consolidate or equity account for interests in joint ventures. IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 3, Interests in 
Joint Ventures, and SIC-13, Jointly Controlled Entities - Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers. 
The Society has not yet assessed the impact of the standard. 
 

� IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities  
IFRS 12 establishes disclosure requirements for interests in other entities, such as joint 
arrangements, associates, and special purpose vehicles and off balance sheet vehicles. The 
standard carries forward existing disclosures and also introduces significant additional disclosure 
requirements that address the nature of, and risk associated with an entity’s interest in other 
entities. The Society has not yet assessed the impact of the standard. 
 

� IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement 
IFRS 13 establishes a comprehensive standard for fair value measurement and disclosure 
requirements for use across all IFRS standards. The new standard clarifies that fair value is the 
price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants, at the measurement date. It also establishes disclosures about fair 
value measurement. The Society has not yet assessed the impact of the standard. 
 

2.2.  Consolidation 
 

(a) Subsidiaries 
 
Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Society has the power to 
govern the financial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half 
of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or 
convertible are considered when assessing whether the Society controls another entity. Subsidiaries are 
fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Society. They are de-consolidated 
from the date on which control ceases. The subsidiaries, which are consolidated in these financial 
statements, are BC Life (all shares 100% owned by the Society), MSA Business Services Ltd (dormant 
subsidiary all shares 100% owned by Society) and the PIMCO Fund of which the Society and BC Life are 
the sole investors at December 31, 2012 and 2011. 
 



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2012 
(in thousands of dollars) 
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The Society uses the purchase method of accounting to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. The 
cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and 
liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.  
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are 
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority 
interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Society’s share of the identifiable 
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.  If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net 
assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the statement of income and 
comprehensive income. 
 
All inter-group transactions, balances and gains and losses on inter-group transactions are eliminated.   
 

2.3. Fund accounting 
 

During 2007, an internally restricted fund was set aside for future funding of a foundation. The funds will 
be forwarded to a foundation to be established by the Society at a future date to be determined by the 
Board of Directors. During 2012, $4 million (2011: -) were designated for this fund. 
 

2.4. Foreign currency translation 
 

(a) Functional and presentation currency 
 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Society’s entities are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). The 
consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of Canadian ($) which is the Society’s 
functional and presentation currency. 
 
(b) Transactions and balances 

 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of income and 
comprehensive income. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement of income and 
comprehensive income within general and administrative costs. 
 
Translation differences on financial assets held at fair value through income are reported as part of 
investment income.   



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2012 
(in thousands of dollars) 
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2.5. Property and equipment and amortisation 
 

All classes of property and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment 
losses.   
 
Amortisation is charged annually on a straight-line basis at the following rates: 
 
Leasehold improvements term of lease 
Property and equipment (including computer hardware) 10% - 33 1/3% 
 
Amortisation is based on estimated useful lives as follows: 
 
Leasehold improvements 15 years 
Property and equipment (including computer hardware) 3-10 years 
 
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
adjusted, if appropriate, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. 
 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.  Impairment of property and equipment is 
determined by policy in note 2.8. 
 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount.  
These are included in the consolidated statement of income and comprehensive income in general and 
administrative costs. 
 

2.6. Intangible assets 
 
Computer software 
 
Costs associated with maintaining computer software programs are recognised as an expense as 
incurred.  Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and 
unique software products controlled by the Society are recognised as intangible assets when the following 
criteria are met: 
 
� It is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use; 
� Management intends to complete the software product and use it; 
� There is an ability to use the software products; 
� It can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic benefits; 
� Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use the 

software product are available; and  
� The expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably measured. 

 
Directly attributable costs, which are capitalised as part of the software product, include the software 
development, employee costs and an appropriate portion of directly attributable overheads. 
 
Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as 
incurred.  Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a 
subsequent period. 
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Amortisation 
 
Amortisation is charged annually on a straight-line basis at the following rates: 
 
Computer software                    10% - 100% 
Individual plan administrative system 10% 
Administration claims enrolment system 10% 
 
Amortisation is based on estimated useful lives as follows: 
 
Computer software 1-10 years 
Individual plan administrative system 10 years 
Administration claims enrolment system 10 years 
 
Amortisation is currently recorded on that part of the individual plan administrative system or 
administration claims enrolment system that is in use.  Certain parts of the assets are still in the course of 
development and are not yet available for use and therefore, amortisation is not recorded. 
 
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
adjusted, if appropriate, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. 
 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.  
 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount.  
These are included in the consolidated statement of income and comprehensive income in general and 
administrative costs. 
 
Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised over their useful lives, which 
do not exceed ten years.  Impairment of intangible assets is under policy note 2.8. 
 

2.7. Financial assets 
 

The Society classifies its financial assets into the following categories: at fair value through income, and 
loans and receivables. The classification is determined by management at initial recognition and depends 
on the purpose for which the assets were acquired.  
 

2.7.1.   Classification 
 
(a) Fair value through income 

 
This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held-for-trading and those designated at fair value 
through income at inception. 
 
A financial asset that is held-for-trading is classified into the “financial assets at fair value through income” 
category at inception if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short-term, if it forms part of a 
portfolio of financial assets in which there is evidence of short-term profit-taking, or if so designated by 
management. 
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Financial assets designated as at fair value through income at inception are those that are: 
� held in internal funds to match insurance and investment contracts liabilities that are linked to the 

changes in fair value of these assets. The designation of these assets to be fair value through income 
eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (sometimes referred to 
as ‘an accounting mismatch’) that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or 
recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases; and 

 
� managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis.  Information about these financial 

assets is provided internally on a fair value basis to the Society’s key management personnel. The 
Society’s investment strategy is to invest in equity and debt securities and to evaluate them with 
reference to their fair values. Assets that are part of these portfolios are designated upon initial 
recognition at fair value through income (see note 6 and 7 for additional details on the Society’s 
investment portfolio structure). 

 
(b) Receivables 

 
Receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market other than those that the Society intends to sell in the short-term or that it has 
designated as at fair value through income. Receivables arising from insurance contracts are also 
classified in this category and are reviewed for impairment as part of the impairment review of 
receivables.  
 

2.7.2.   Recognition and measurement 
 
Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Society 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
 
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus, in the case of all financial assets not carried at fair 
value through income, transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition.  Financial assets 
carried at fair value through income are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed 
in the consolidated statement of income and comprehensive income. 
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from them have expired or where 
they have been transferred and the Society has also transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through income are subsequently carried at fair value with the change in fair 
value being recorded in investment income in the consolidated statement of income and comprehensive 
income. Receivables are carried at cost, as it does not materially differ from carrying at amortised cost. 
 
Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair value through income’ 
category are included in the consolidated statement of income and comprehensive income in the period in 
which they arise.   
 
Interest on securities is calculated using the effective interest method and is recognised in the consolidated 
statement of income and comprehensive income. Dividends are recognised in the consolidated statement of 
income and comprehensive income when the Society’s right to receive payments is established. Both are 
included in investment income. 
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See Note 2.8 for the Society’s accounting policies relating to the impairment of financial assets. 
 
2.7.3.   Determination of fair value 

 
For financial instruments traded in active markets, the determination of fair values of financial assets and 
financial liabilities is based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations. This includes listed equity 
securities and quoted debt instruments on major exchanges.   
 
A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly 
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry society, pricing service or regulatory agency, and those 
prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. If the above 
criteria are not met, the market is regarded as being inactive. 
 
For example, a market is inactive when there is a wide bid-offer spread or significant increase in the bid-
offer spread or there are few recent transactions. 
 
For all other financial instruments, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. In these techniques, 
fair values are estimated from observable data in respect of similar financial instruments. 
 
The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to 
approximate their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by 
discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the 
Society for similar financial instruments. 
 
The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset is 
not active, the Society establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include the use of recent 
arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash 
flow analysis and option pricing models making maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as 
possible on entity-specific inputs. 

 
2.8 Impairment of assets 

 
(a) Financial assets carried at amortised cost 

 
A financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is 
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that have occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset (a ‘loss’ event) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.   
 
Individually significant financial assets are assessed for impairment on an individual basis.  The remaining 
financial assets are included in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and 
collectively assessed for impairment. 
 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on non-equity instruments, has been incurred on 
financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the 
financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the 
use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in the statement of income and 
comprehensive income. 
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If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised 
in the statement of income and comprehensive income. 
 
(b) Impairment of other non-financial assets 

 
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment at least annually or whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Intangible assets 
with finite lives are evaluated only when impairment indicators are present.  Intangible assets not yet 
available for use are required to be tested annually for impairment. An impairment loss is recognised for 
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of 
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable 
cash flows (cash-generating units). 
 

2.9. Offsetting financial instruments 
 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated balance sheet 
only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to 
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 

2.10. Financial liabilities 
 
Financial liabilities include outstanding cheques, trade and other payables. Financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value and then carried at amortised cost. A liability is removed from the consolidated 
balance sheet when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expired. 
 

2.11. Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase, net of 
bank overdrafts. 
 

2.12. Insurance and investment contracts - classification 
 
The Society issues contracts that transfer insurance risk or financial risk or both.  Insurance contracts are 
those contracts that transfer significant insurance risk. Such contracts may also transfer financial risk. As 
a general guideline, the Society defines a significant insurance risk the possibility of having to pay benefits 
on the occurrence of an insured event that are at least 10% more than the benefits payable if the insured 
event did not occur. 
 

2.13. Insurance contracts  
 
(a) Long-term disability insurance contracts  

 
These annual contracts insure events associated with human life (for example, disability) over a long 
duration. Long–term insurance disability contracts protect Society members in the event of long-term 
disability. 
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Premiums are recognised as revenue when they become payable by the contract holder. Premiums are 
shown before deduction of commission.  Benefits are recorded as an expense when they are incurred. 
 
A liability for contractual benefits that are expected to be paid in the future is recorded when the claim is 
incurred. The liability is determined as the sum of the expected discounted value of the projected benefit 
payments and the future administration expenses that are directly related to the claim. The liability is 
based on assumptions as to mortality, morbidity, claims, experience, expenses and investment income. A 
margin for adverse deviation is included in the assumptions. These assumptions may be revised 
depending on emerging experience and changing expectations regarding future experience. 
 
The liabilities are recalculated at each end of the reporting period using the assumptions established 
during the year and on a consistent basis with prior years. The liabilities are determined in accordance 
with Canadian accepted actuarial practice and any requirements of the Financial Institutions Commission 
(“FICOM”) of British Columbia. As confirmed by guidance provided by Canadian Institute of Actuaries 
(“CIA”), the current Canadian Asset Liability Method (“CALM”) of valuation of insurance contracts satisfies 
the IFRS 4 Insurance contracts for eligibility for use under IFRS. 
 
(b) Short-term insurance contracts 
 
Short-term insurance contracts protect Society’s members for losses arising from life, accidental death 
and dismemberment and critical illness risks. They also protect customers from losses on short-term 
disability due to illness, injury or disability.  
 
Short-term insurance contracts protect the Society’s members from the claims from Extended Health and 
Dental benefits. They protect the customer from costs of such services and allow them to maintain their 
current level of income. They also protect customers from costs due to illness and sickness.  
 
(c) Reinsurance contracts held 

 
Contracts entered into by the Society with reinsurers under which the Society is compensated for losses 
on one or more contracts issued by the Society are classified as reinsurance contracts held.   
 
The benefits to which the Society is entitled under its reinsurance contracts held are recognised as 
reinsurance assets. These assets consist of short-term balances due from reinsurers, as well as longer 
term receivables that are dependent on the expected claims and benefits arising under the related 
reinsured insurance contracts. Amounts recoverable from or due to reinsurers are measured consistently 
with the amounts associated with the reinsured insurance contracts and in accordance with the terms of 
each reinsurance contract. Reinsurance liabilities are primarily premiums payable for reinsurance 
contracts and are recognised as an expense when due. 
 
The Society assesses its reinsurance assets for impairment on a regular basis. If there is objective 
evidence that the reinsurance asset is impaired, the Society reduces the carrying amount of the 
reinsurance asset to the recoverable amount and recognises that impairment loss in the consolidated 
statement of income and comprehensive income. The Society gathers the objective evidence that a 
reinsurance asset is impaired using the same process adopted for financial assets held at amortised cost.  
The impairment loss is calculated following the same method used for these financial assets. These 
processes are described in note 2.9. 
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(d) Receivables and payables related to insurance contracts and investment contracts 

 
Receivables and payables are recognised when a present obligation related to past service is created.    
These include amounts due to and from agents, brokers and insurance contract holders. 
 
If there is objective evidence that the insurance receivable is impaired, the Society reduces the carrying 
amount of the insurance receivable accordingly and recognises that impairment loss in the consolidated 
statement of income and comprehensive income. The Society gathers the objective evidence that the 
insurance receivable is impaired using the same process adopted for loans and receivables. The 
impairment loss is calculated under the same method used for these financial assets. These processes 
are described in note 2.9. 
 

2.14. Income tax 
 
The Society is not subject to income tax, however; taxes apply to its wholly owned subsidiary, BC Life.  
 
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the statement of 
income and comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 
 
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted 
at the end of the reporting period where the Society’s subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.  
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which 
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate. 
 
Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.  
However, if the deferred income tax arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 
other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable 
profit nor loss, it is not accounted for. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply 
when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 
 
Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will 
be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 
 
Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and 
associates, except where the Society controls the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it 
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to 
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities 
where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis. 
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2.15. Employee benefits 
 
(a) Pension obligations 
 
The Society operates various pension schemes. The Society has both defined benefit and defined 
contribution plans.  
 
A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will 
receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and 
compensation.   
 
A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Society pays fixed contributions into a 
separate entity. The Society has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund 
does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the 
current and prior periods. 
 
The liability recognised on the consolidated balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is 
the present value of the defined benefit obligations at the end of the financial reporting period less the fair 
value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using 
the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by 
discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are 
denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity that 
approximate the terms of the related pension liability. 
 
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are 
charged or credited to other comprehensive income in the year of the adjustment. 
 
Past-service costs are recognised immediately in income, unless the changes to the pension plan are 
conditional on the employees remaining in service for a specified period of time (the vesting period). In 
this case, the past-service costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. 
 
For defined contribution plans, the Society pays contributions to privately administered pension plans on a 
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Society has no further payment obligations once the 
contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expenses when they 
are due. Pre-paid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction 
in the future payments is available. 
 
(b) Other post-employment obligations 

 
The Society provides post-retirement healthcare benefits to their retirees. The entitlement to these 
benefits is usually conditional on the employee remaining in service up to retirement age and the 
completion of a minimum service period. The expected costs for these benefits are accrued over the 
period of employment using an accounting methodology similar to that for defined benefit pension plans.  
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are 
charged or credited to other comprehensive income.  Independent qualified actuaries value these 
obligations annually. 
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(c) Termination benefits 

 
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date, or 
whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Society 
recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either: terminating the employment 
of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal; or providing 
termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due 
are included in trade and other payables.   
 
(d) Profit-sharing and bonus plans 

 
The Society recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing based on a formula that 
takes into consideration the profit attributable to the Society’s members after certain adjustments. The 
Society recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has 
created a constructive obligation. 
 

2.16. Billings processed 
 

Billings processed represent all billings rendered by the Society. These billings are for insurance contracts 
and self-insured plans plus claims costs. 
 

2.17. Revenue recognition 
 
Revenue comprises the fair value for services, net of applicable taxes, after eliminating revenue within the 
Society. Revenue is recognised as follows: 
 
(a) Rendering of services 

 
For insurance contracts, revenue (earned premiums) is recognised proportionally over the period of 
coverage. The portion of premium received on in-force contracts that relates to unexpired risks at the 
balance sheet date is reported as members’ dues received in advance. Premiums are shown before 
deductions of sales and service fees and are gross of premium taxes. 
 
Fees from self-insured plans consist primarily of administrative fees resulting from Administrative Services 
Only (“ASO”) contracts. The Society manages the benefits of employees on behalf of a client for a service 
fee based on claims paid. A fixed deposit is received at the setup of the contract and any amounts paid 
(including the administration fee) are fully reimbursed by the client. 
 
Revenue arising from ASO and other services offered is recognised in the accounting period in which the 
services are rendered. 
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(b) Interest income and expenses 
 

Interest income and expenses for all interest-bearing financial instruments, including financial instruments 
measured at fair value through income, are recognised within ‘investment income’ (note 6), in the 
consolidated statement of income and comprehensive income using the effective interest rate method.   
 
When a receivable is impaired, the Society reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being 
the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrument, and 
continues unwinding the discount as interest income. 
 
(c) Dividend income 
 
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. 
 

2.18. Leases 
 
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are 
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received 
from the lessor) are charged to the consolidated statement of income and comprehensive income on a 
straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 
 
The Society leases certain property and equipment. The Society does not have substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership and these leases are therefore classified as operating leases. 
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3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

The Society makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. 
 
(a) The ultimate liability arising from claims made under insurance contracts 

 
The estimation of the ultimate liability arising from claims made under insurance contracts is the Society’s 
most critical accounting estimate. 

 
(b) Estimate of future benefit payments arising from long-term disability insurance claims 

 
Products covered in this area are long-term disability for group clients. The determination of the liabilities 
under long-term disability is dependent on estimates made by Society. 
 
(c) Estimate of future benefit payments and premium arising from short-term insurance claims 
 
Products covered in this category include life, accidental death and dismemberment, and critical illness 
benefits. The short-term nature of these claims means that movement in claims development assumptions 
are generally not significant. The development patterns are monitored closely to maintain the validity of the 
assumptions, and hence, the validity of the estimation of insurance liabilities. 
 
(d) Estimate of reserves for short-term health and dental contracts 

 
Products covered in this area are health and dental for groups and individual members. 
The short-term nature of the Society’s health and dental contracts means that movement in claims 
development assumptions are generally not significant. The development patterns are kept under constant 
review to maintain the validity of the assumptions and hence, the validity of the estimation of recognised 
insurance liabilities. 
 
Assumptions used in accounting estimates and judgements 
 
The Society’s valuation methods involve the use of best estimates for the following assumptions: mortality, 
morbidity, investment yields and expense levels. Actual experience is monitored against these assumptions 
to ensure that they remain reasonable. 
 
Any change in assumptions will cause a corresponding change in insurance liabilities, which is recognised 
in income immediately. The following outlines the significant assumptions used and the methods in arriving 
at these estimates: 
 
(a) Mortality 

The mortality assumption varies by type of contract, and is based on the Society’s aggregate experience or 
on industry experience modified to reflect the Society’s emerging experience if appropriate. 
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(b) Morbidity 

The rate of morbidity refers to the incidence of accident and sickness, and the termination of disability due to 
death or recovery. This assumption is based on the Society’s aggregate experience or industry experience 
modified to reflect the Society’s emerging experience if appropriate. 
 
(c) Expenses 

Amounts are included in insurance liabilities to provide for the cost of administering incurred claims. Where 
applicable, allowances for future expenses are based on Society experience projected into the future with 
an allowance for inflation consistent with the investment yield. 
 
(d) Investment yields 

The amount and timing of cash flows arising from both the insurance liabilities and the assets supporting 
them are projected. These cash flows are combined with reinvestment rates, derived from the current 
economic outlook and the Society’s investment policy, to establish expected rates of return for all future 
years, including reasonable provisions for asset default. 

 
(e) Provision for adverse deviation 

A margin is included in each assumption to recognise the uncertainty in establishing best estimate 
assumptions, to allow for possible deterioration in experience and to provide greater comfort that insurance 
liabilities are adequate to pay future benefits. A range of allowable margins is prescribed by the CIA. As the 
experience of future accounting periods emerges, any provision not required to cover adverse deviations 
will be included in income for that period. 
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4.  Risk management 

The Society issues contracts that transfer insurance risk or financial risk or both. This section summarises 
these risks and the way the Society manages them. 
 

4.1.1. Insurance risk 
 
The risk under any one insurance contract is the possibility that the insured event occurs and the 
uncertainty of the amount of the resulting claim. By the very nature of an insurance contract, this risk is 
random and therefore unpredictable. 
 
For a portfolio of insurance contracts where the theory of probability is applied to pricing and 
provisioning, the principal risk that the Society faces under its insurance contracts is that the actual 
claims and benefit payments exceed the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities. This could occur 
because the frequency or severity of claims and benefits are greater than estimated.  Insurance events 
are random, and the actual number and amount of claims and benefits will vary from year to year from 
the level established using statistical techniques.   
 
Experience shows that the larger the portfolio of similar insurance contracts, the smaller the relative 
variability about the expected outcome will be. In addition, a more diversified portfolio is less likely to be 
affected by a change in any subset of the portfolio. The Society has developed its insurance 
underwriting strategy to diversify the type of insurance risks accepted and within each of these 
categories to achieve a sufficiently large population of risks to reduce the variability of the expected 
outcome. 
 
Factors that aggravate insurance risk include lack of risk diversification in terms of the type and amount 
of risk, geographical location and the type of industry covered. 
 
(a) Sources of uncertainty in the estimation of future claim payments 
 
The Society is liable for all insured events that occurred during the term of the contract, even if the loss 
is not reported until after the end of the contract term. Liability claims for long-term disability are settled 
over a long period of time. The liability for these contracts comprises a provision for claims incurred but 
not reported and a provision for reported claims not yet paid. 
 
The Society takes all reasonable steps to ensure that it has appropriate information regarding its claims 
exposures. However, given the uncertainty in establishing claims provisions, it is likely that the final 
outcome will prove to be different from the original liability established.      
 
(b) Process used to decide on assumptions 
 
The risks associated with long-term and short-term insurance contracts are complex and subject to a 
number of variables that complicate quantitative sensitivity analysis. Details of the assumptions used 
are included in note 3. 
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4.1.2.   Long-term disability contracts 

 
(a) Frequency and severity of claims 

 
For contracts where the insured risk is long-term disability, the most significant factors are rates of 
incidence of disability and rates of termination from disability. These factors are referred to as morbidity 
risk.  
 
At present, these risks do not vary significantly in relation to the location of the risk insured by the 
Society. However, undue concentration by amounts could have an impact on the severity of benefit 
payments on a portfolio basis. 
 
The risk of disability will vary by industry. Undue concentration of risk by industry will therefore increase 
the risk of a change in the underlying average mortality or morbidity of employees in a given industry, 
with significant effects on the overall insurance risk. 
 
The risk exposure is geographically concentrated in British Columbia. 
 
Insurance risk under disability contracts is also dependent on economic conditions in the industry.  
Historical data indicates that recession and unemployment in an industry will increase the number of 
claims for disability benefits as well as reduce the rate of recovery from disability. The Society attempts 
to manage this risk through its underwriting, claims handling and reinsurance policy. The amount of 
disability benefit cover provided per individual is restricted to a maximum of 75% of the individual’s 
monthly income.   
 
The Society charges for morbidity risk on a monthly basis for all insurance contracts. It has the right to 
alter these charges annually based on its morbidity experience and hence minimise its exposure to 
morbidity risk. Delays in implementing increases in charges and market restraints over the extent of the 
increase may reduce its mitigating effect. The Society manages these risks through its underwriting 
strategy and reinsurance arrangements. 
 
The underwriting strategy is intended to ensure that the risks underwritten are well diversified in terms of 
type of risk and the level of insured benefits. For example, the Society balances morbidity risk across its 
portfolio. The Society has reinsurance on any single life insured. The Society reinsures the excess of 
the insured benefit over risks under an excess of loss reinsurance arrangement. It also has reinsurance 
in place for morbidity risk. BC Life during 2012 increased its risk it cedes to reinsurers by an additional 
20% over the prior reinsurance arrangement for long-term disability. 
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The table below presents the concentration of insured benefits across bands of insured benefits per 
individual long-term disability insured. The benefit insured figures are shown gross and net of the 
reinsurance contracts described above.   
 

 Total benefits insured 

Monthly benefits 
insured per life at 
the end of 2012 

 
 

Before reinsurance 

 
 

After reinsurance 
$0-1,000 $187 0.3% $75 0.4% 

$1,000-2,000 $6,799 10.5% $2,719 11.9% 

$2,000-3,000 $24,501 37.8% $9,899 43.5% 

$3,000-4,000 $18,298 28.2% $6,638 29.1% 

$4,000+ $15,006 23.2% $3,453 15.1% 

Total $64,791 100.0% $22,784 100.0% 
 

 Total benefits insured 

Monthly benefits 
insured per life at 
the end of 2011 

 
 

Before reinsurance 

 
 

After reinsurance 
$0-1,000 $232 0.4% $68 0.4% 

$1,000-2,000 $7,831 12.2% $2,290 12.2% 

$2,000-3,000 $22,543 35.1% $6,591 35.1% 

$3,000-4,000 $19,182 29.9% $5,609 29.9% 

$4,000+ $14,452 22.4% $4,226 22.4% 

Total $64,240 100% $18,784 100% 
 

The risk spread has not changed significantly from last year. 
 
The Society has factored the impact of contract holders’ behaviour into the assumptions used to 
measure these liabilities (see note 3). 
 
(b) Sources of uncertainty in the estimation of future benefit payments. 

 
Uncertainty in the estimation of future benefit payments for long-term disability insurance contracts 
arises from the unpredictability of long-term changes in overall levels of morbidity. 
 
For incurred disability income claims, it is necessary to estimate the rates of recovery from disability for 
future years. Standard industry recovery tables are used as well as the actual experience of the Society.  
The influence of economic circumstances on the actual recovery rate for individual contracts is a source 
of uncertainty for these estimates. 
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(c) Process used to decide on assumptions 

 
For long-term disability insurance contracts, the assumptions used to determine the liabilities are 
updated at each reporting date to reflect the latest estimates. Assumptions used in the estimates 
include morbidity, investment yields, expenses and provisions for adverse deviation as outlined in  
note 3. 
 
The assumptions used for the insurance contracts disclosed in this note as outlined in note 4 are as 
follows: 
 
� Morbidity 
The rate of incidence of disability is based on the Society’s aggregate experience. The rate of recovery 
from disability is derived from industry experience studies, adjusted where appropriate for the Society’s 
own experience. 
 
� Mortality 
The mortality assumption is based on industry experience modified to reflect the Society‘s emerging 
experience as appropriate. 
 
� Projected investment yields 
Projected investment returns affect the assumed level of future benefits due to the contract holders and 
the selection of the appropriate discount rate. 

 
� Claims expense level and inflation 
Allowances for claims expenses are based on the Society‘s experience projected into the future with an 
allowance for inflation consistent with the investment yield. The current level of expenses is taken as an 
appropriate expense base. 

 
� Tax 
It has been assumed that current tax legislation and rates continue unaltered. 

 
(d) Change in assumptions 
 
The Society did not materially change its assumptions, from prior year, for the insurance contracts 
disclosed in this note. 
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Long-term disability contracts  

This table shows the financial effect on net income after tax if the Morbidity and Expenses were to 
change independently of each other without management action 

  Change in after tax income 
 
Variable 

Change in 
variable 

 
2012 

 
2011 

Morbidity +5% $(540) $(511) 
Expenses +5% $(106) $(98) 
Morbidity -5% $524 $497 
Expenses -5% $106 $98 

 
Investment yields (note 21). 
 
The above analysis is based on a change in one assumption while holding all other assumptions 
constant.  In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be 
correlated – for example, a change in interest rate and change in market values; and change in future 
mortality. 
 
A sensitivity analysis for financial risks is presented in note 21 together with the assets backing the 
associated liabilities of the contracts. 
 
4.1.3.   Life and short-term disability insurance contracts 
 
(a) Frequency and severity of claims 
 
Under life and short-term disability insurance contracts, the most significant factors are rates of 
morbidity and mortality. 
 
At present, these risks do not vary significantly in relation to the location of the risk insured by the 
Society. However, undue concentration by amounts could have an impact on the severity of benefit 
payments on a portfolio basis. 
 
The risk exposure is geographically concentrated in British Columbia. 
 
The risk of death and disability will vary by industry. Undue concentration of risk by industry will 
therefore increase the risk of a change in the underlying average mortality or morbidity of employees in 
a given industry, with significant effects on the overall insurance risk. 
 
Insurance risk under disability contracts is also dependent on economic conditions in the industry.  
Historical data indicates that recession and unemployment in an industry will increase the number of 
claims for disability benefits as well as reduce the rate of recovery from disability. The Society attempts 
to manage this risk through its underwriting, claims handling and reinsurance policy. The amount of 
disability benefit cover provided per individual is restricted to a maximum of 75% of the individual’s 
monthly income. Excess of loss reinsurance contracts have been purchased by the Society to limit the 
maximum loss on any one life to $250. 
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The following table reports the year-end aggregated insured benefits for the in-force life and disability 
insurance contracts by benefit. Disability risk is disclosed as the amount payable per annum under the 
terms of the in-force insurance contract. 

 
 Before reinsurance After reinsurance 
2012 by type of 
insurance 

 
Mortality risk 

 
Disability risk 

 
Mortality risk 

 
Disability risk 

Life & Optional Life $8,008,854 69.0%   $6,929,713 68.9%   
Dependent Life $99,485 0.9%   $99,485 0.9%   
AD&D $2,472,446 21.3%   $2,025,438 20.3%   
Optional AD&D $119,874 1.0%   $92,979 0.9%   
Individual Products $777,880 6.7%   $777,880 7.7%   
Critical Illness $124,497 1.1%   $124,497 1.3%   
STD   $6,901 100%   $6,648 100% 

 
The concentration is substantially unchanged from prior year. 
 

 Before reinsurance After reinsurance 
2011 by type of 
insurance 

 
Mortality risk 

 
Disability risk 

 
Mortality risk 

 
Disability risk 

Life & Optional Life $7,030,406 68.7   $5,952,106 67.5%   
Dependent Life $98,349 0.9%   $98,349 1.1%   
AD&D $2,115,583 20.7%   $1,810,627 20.5%   
Optional AD&D $120,715 1.2%   $95,444 1.1%   
Individual Products $742,173 7.3%   $742,173 8.4%   
Critical Illness $122,629 1.2%   $122,629 1.4%   
STD   $6,890 100%   $6,535 100% 

 
(b) Sources of uncertainty in the estimation of future claim payments 

 
Other than for the testing of the adequacy of the liability representing the unexpired risk at the end of the 
reporting period, there is no need to estimate mortality rates or morbidity rates for future years because 
these contracts have short duration.   
 
(c) Process used to decide on assumptions 
 
The process to decide these assumptions for the contracts disclosed in this note is similar to those 
disclosed in note 3. However, the short-term nature of the mortality and morbidity risks makes the 
Society’s estimate of the liability covering short-term insurance contracts less uncertain than in the case 
of long-term contracts. 
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The assumptions used for the insurance contracts disclosed in this note are as follows: 
 
� Mortality 
The rate of mortality is based on the Society’s aggregate experience, or on industry experience studies, 
adjusted where appropriate for the Society’s own experience.  
 
� Morbidity 
The rate of mortality is based on the Society’s aggregate experience. 
 
� Claims expense level and inflation 
Allowances for claims expenses are based on the Society’s experience. If applicable, claims expenses 
are projected into the future with an allowance for inflation consistent with the investment yield. 
 
(d) Changes in assumptions 
 
The Society did not materially change its assumptions, from prior year, for the insurance contracts 
disclosed in this note. 
 
(e) Sensitivity analysis 

 
Short-duration insurance contracts 
 

  Change in after-tax income  
 
Variable 

Change in 
variable 

 
2012 

 
2011 

Mortality +5% $(247) $(196) 
Morbidity +5% $(131) $(109) 
Expenses +5% $(21) $(18) 
Mortality -5% $249 $198 
Morbidity -5% $130 $108 
Expenses -5% $21 $18 
    
Investment yields (note 21)    

 
The above analysis is based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions 
constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be 
correlated – for example, changes in expenses and future mortality. 
 
Short-duration life insurance contracts are not exposed to financial risks. 
 
4.1.4.  Short-duration health and dental contracts 
 
(a) Frequency and severity of claims 
 
These contracts are mainly issued to employers to insure their commitments to their employees in terms 
of employee benefit plans. The risk is affected by the nature of the industry in which the employer 
operates, in addition to the factors in note 3. The risk of claims will vary by industry and plan design.  
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Insurance risk under these plans is dependent on the claiming patterns of the covered employee.  
The Society underwrites these plans on premiums set for a twelve-month period which permits premium 
adjustment on an annual basis. The Society reinsures out of country claims over certain dollar threshold 
with Reinsurer depending on line of benefit. 
 
Claims risk is controlled by means of pre-authorisation of claims, benefit limits and fee schedules. The 
specific processes used would vary by group depending on plan arrangements. 

 
 Before reinsurance After reinsurance 
2012 by type of insurance Mortality risk Mortality risk 
     
Dental $77,899 32.2% $77,899 32.3% 
EHC $115,122 47.5% $114,397 47.5% 
Individual Products $49,265 20.3% $48,573 20.2% 
Total 

$242,286 100% $240,869 100% 
 
 

 
 

Before reinsurance 

 
 

After reinsurance 
2011 by type of insurance Mortality risk Mortality risk 

Dental $74,109 35.9% $74,109 36.1% 
EHC $87,698 42.5% $87,065 42.4% 
Individual Products $44,445 21.6% $44,089 21.5% 
Total 

$206,252 100% $205,263 100% 
 
(b) Sources of uncertainty in the estimation of future claim payments 

 
Other than for the testing of the adequacy of the liability representing the unexpired risk at the end of the 
reporting period, there is no need to estimate mortality rates or morbidity rates for future years because 
these contracts have short duration. The influence of economic circumstances on the actual recovery 
rate for individual contracts is the key source of uncertainty for these estimates. 
 
(c) Process used to decide on assumptions 

The assumptions used for the insurance contracts disclosed in this note are as follows: 
 
� Morbidity 
 
The rate of incidence and size of claims is derived from experience studies, adjusted where appropriate 
for the Society’s own experience. 
 
The process to decide these assumptions for the contracts disclosed in this note is similar to those 
disclosed in note 3. However, the short-term nature of the mortality risk underwritten makes the 
Society’s estimate of the liability covering death benefit payments less uncertain than in the case of 
long-term contracts. 
 
Similar to the approach for the assumptions underlying the insurance liabilities, the choice of selected 
results for each accident year depends on an assessment of the technique that has been most 
appropriate to observed historical developments. 
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(d) Changes in assumptions 

The Society did not materially change its assumptions, from the prior year, for the insurance contracts 
disclosed in this note. 
 
(e) Sensitivity analysis 

 
Short-duration health and dental contracts 
 

  Change in after-tax income  
 
Variable 

Change in 
variable 

 
2012 

 
2011 

Morbidity +5%  $(1,263) $(1,106) 
Expenses +5% $(47) $(41) 
Morbidity -5% $1,263 $1,106 
Expenses -5% $47 $41 
    

 
The above analysis is based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions 
constant.  In practice, this is unlikely to occur and changes in some of the assumptions may be 
correlated – for example, changes in morbidity and expenses. 
 
Short-duration insurance health and dental contracts are not exposed to financial risks. 
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5.   Investment in the PIMCO Fund 

The following table shows the assets and liabilities of the PIMCO Fund which is wholly owned by the Society 
and BC Life.  Further detail on these items can be found in notes 24 through 35. 
 

 2012 2011 
 $                $ 

PIMCO assets:   
Investments – at fair value 159,580 147,600 
Cash 685 724 
Deposit with counterparties 416 871 
Foreign currency - at fair value 226 833 
Variation margin receivable on financial derivative 

instruments 
 

65 
 

- 
Accrued interest receivable 964 1,242 
Receivable for purchased options 48 335 
Receivable for investments sold - 3,450 
Reverse repurchase agreements – at fair value - - 
Unrealised appreciation on foreign currency contracts 492 1,547 
Swap agreements – at fair value 438 1,581 

Total assets $162,914 $158,183 
   

PIMCO liabilities:   
Payable for investments purchased 1 7,043 
Payable for short sales – at fair value - 2,471 
Swap interest payable 2 11 
Payable for written options 18 34 
Unrealised depreciation on foreign currency contracts 454 387 
Swap agreements at fair value 151 1,020 
Variation margin payable on financial derivative 

instruments 
 

- 
 

27 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 15 18 
Deposit from counterparties 677 1,945 

Total liabilities $1,318 $12,956 

Net PIMCO investments $161,596 $145,227 
   

 
 2012 

$ 
2011 

$ 
Investment income earned on :  
Fixed income pooled funds 4,286 3,823 
Net realised /unrealised gain / (loss) 4,082 (5,682) 

Total investment income / (loss) $8,368 $(1,859) 
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6.   Cash and investments 
 

 Cash and investments included on the consolidated balance sheets are as follows 
 
 

  

 2012 2011 
 $ $ 

   
Cash and cash equivalents 44,223 34,041 
   
Fixed income investments maturing in    
Less than one year 100 390 
One to five years 2,854 2,695 
More than five years 2,890 2,714 
Fixed income pooled funds 2,776 2,627 

Total fixed income investments $8,620 $8,426 
   
Real estate fund $32,080 $28,485 
   
Equity investments   
Equities 67,507 68,587 
Equity pooled funds 38,906 33,837 

Total equity investments $106,413 $102,424 
   
Total investments $147,113 $139,335 
   

Total cash and cash equivalents and 
investments $191,336 $173,376 
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Net investment income includes: 

 2012 
$ 

2011 
$ 

Investment income earned on:   
Fixed income investments and pooled funds 1,058 1,010 
Cash equivalents 473 642 
Real estate fund 1,133 1,546 
 $2,664 $3,198 
   
Dividend income earned on:   
Equities and equity pooled funds $2,306 $2,105 
   
Realised /unrealised gain (loss) - net:   
Fixed income 134 347 
Real estate 1,860 1,594 
Equities 10,189 (6,752) 
Total realised/unrealised gain (loss)  net $12,183 $(4,811) 
   
Investment expenses (1,082) (1,149) 
Interest paid to groups (882) (796) 
 $(1,964)                          $(1,945) 
   

Total investment income (loss) $15,189 $(1,453) 
 

The effective annual interest rate of the fixed income investment portfolio at December 31, 2012 was 2.5% 
(2011 – 4%). 

Fair value hierarchy 

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are: 

Level 1 - unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly; 
and 

Level 3 - inputs that are not based on observable market data. 
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The following tables illustrate the classification of the Society's financial instruments within the fair value 
hierarchy as at December 31, 2012 and 2011: 

Financial assets at fair value as at December 31, 2012 

 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 $ $ $ $ 
     
Equities 67,507 - - 67,507 
Equity pooled funds - 38,906 - 38,906 
Fixed income investments - 2,890 - 2,890 
Fixed income pooled funds - 2,776 - 2,776 
Real estate fund - - 32,080 32,080 

 $67,507 $44,572 $32,080 $144,159 
 

 
Financial assets at fair value as at December 31, 2011 

 
Level 1 

$ 
Level 2 

$ 
Level 3 

$  
Total 

$ 
      

Equities 68,587 - -  68,587 
Equity pooled funds - 33,837 -  33,837 
Fixed income investments - 5,799 -  5,799 
Fixed income pooled funds - 2,627 -  2,627 
Real estate fund - - 28,485  28,485 

 $68,587 $42,263 $28,485 $139,335 
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The Society has financial instruments classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy and has provided an 
analysis of movements in Level 3 instruments: 

2012 $’000 

Opening balance 28,485 
Total gains and losses recognised in investment income 2,993 
Purchases 602 

Closing balance $32,080 
  
2011 $’000 

Opening balance 25,521 
Total gains and losses recognised in investment income 2,964 

Closing balance $28,485 
 
There were no significant transfers of financial assets between any of the levels of fair value hierarchy 
classifications in 2012 and 2011 except as disclosed. 

The following table shows the sensitivity of Level 3 measurements to reasonably possible favourable or 
unfavourable changes in the assumptions e.g. rental income, mortgage rates, occupancy levels etc. are used 
to determine the fair value of the financial asset or liability. If market rates were to change by +/- 5%, which 
management considers a reasonably possible change in assumptions for real estate investments, the impact is 
outlined below:  

  Change in after tax income 
 Favourable 

changes 
Unfavourable 

changes 

At December 31, 2012 $2,058 $(2,058) 

At December 31, 2011 $1,702 $(1,702) 
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7.  Amounts due from reinsurers 

 2012 
$ 

2011 
$ 

   Amounts receivable from reinsurers 2,735 1,505 
Amounts recoverable from reinsurers 62,149 59,366 

    $64,884 $60,871 
 

 2012 
$ 

2011 
$ 

Balance – Beginning of year 59,366 56,248 
Normal business changes 5,115 3,725 
   
Changes due to retention (347) - 
Changes in assumptions:   

Interest rate (171) 2,566 
Other assumptions (1,814) (1,668) 

Balance – End of year $62,149 $60,871 

Current 17,932 17,633 
Non-current 46,952 43,238 
 $64,884 $60,871 

 

The Society has guidelines and a review process in place to ascertain the creditworthiness of the companies to 
which it cedes insurance. The Society cedes a portion of its business to registered reinsurers. No information 
has come to the Society's attention indicating weakness or failure of any of its current reinsurers; consequently, 
no provision has been made in the accounts for doubtful collection. 
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8. Trade and other receivables 

 2012 
$ 

2011 
$ 

   Accounts receivable – Risk 5,965 4,131 
Accounts receivable – ASO 28,289 28,620 
Accounts receivable – Other 1,563 1,712 

 $35,817 $34,463 
   

Current 35,539 34,198 
Non-current 278 265 

 $35,817 $34,463 

 
Accounts receivable – ASO includes claims and fees which are part of the billings (note 2.16). 
 

9. Prepaid expenses 

 2012 
$ 

2011 
$ 

Maintenance agreements 1,388 1,136 
Commission 1,360 1,323 
Insurance 255 182 
Dues and subscriptions 110 87 
Other 211 188 
 $3,324 $2,916 
  
Current 3,327 2,916 
Non-current (3) - 

 $3,324 $2,916 
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10.  Property and equipment 

Year ended December 31, 2012    

Opening net book amount 2,784 3,266 6,050 
Additions 32 1,064 1,096 
Disposals - (10) (10) 
Amortisation charge (356) (1,284) (1,640) 
Closing net book amount $2,460 $3,036 $5,496 
    
At December 31, 2012    
Cost or valuation 6,777 15,292 22,069 
Accumulated amortisation (4,317) (12,256) (16,573) 
Net book amount $2,460 $3,036 $5,496 

There were no asset impairments during 2012 or 2011. 

 
Leasehold 

Improvements 

Furniture 
and 

Equipment 

 

Total 
 $ $ $ 
    
Year ended December 31, 2011    
Opening net book amount 3,117 3,619 6,736 
Additions 20 876 896 
Disposals - - - 
Amortisation charge (353) (1,229) (1,582) 
Closing net book amount $2,784 $3,266 $6,050 
    
At December 31, 2011    
Cost or valuation 6,745 14,238 20,983 
Accumulated amortisation (3,961) (10,972) (14,933) 
Net book amount $2,784 $3,266 $6,050 
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11. Intangible assets 

 Internally Developed    

Computer 
Software 

Individual 
Plan Admin 

System 

Admin Claim 
Enrolment 

System Purchased  Total 
 $ $ $ $ $ 
Year ended December 31, 
2011 

     

Opening net book amount 1,350 4,972 24,269 8,695 39,286 
Additions 865 736 14,283 - 15,884 
Disposals (123) - - - (123) 
Amortisation charge (720) (660) (953) (97) (2,430) 
Closing net book amount $1,372 $5,048 $37,599 $8,598 $52,617 
      
At December 31, 2011      
Cost or valuation 25,991 6,598 39,390 8,792 80,771 
Accumulated amortisation (24,619) (1,550) (1,791) (194) (28,154) 
Net book amount $1,372 $5,048 $37,599 $8,598 $52,617 
      
Year ended December 31, 
2012 

     

Opening net book amount 1,372 5,048 37,599 8,598 52,617 
Additions 687 243 13,181 - 14,111 
Disposals (18) - - - (18) 
Amortisation charge (1,148) (683) (967) (97) (2,895) 
Closing net book amount  $893 $4,608 $49,813 $8,501 $63,815 
      
At December 31, 2012      
Cost or valuation 26,660 6,841 52,571 8,792 94,864 
Accumulated amortisation (25,767) (2,233) (2,758) (291) (31,049) 
Net book amount  $893 $4,608 $49,813 $8,501 $63,815 
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12. Insurance liabilities  

The expenditures on members' claims include an estimate for services performed and claims incurred but 
which have not been reported to or processed by the Society. This estimate is based on the results of an 
actuarial valuation performed in accordance with standards established by the CIA using data supplied by the 
Society. The actual amount of the Society's liability with respect to incurred but unreported and open claims 
cannot be determined until all claims have been submitted and processed. Although the Society is liable for the 
full amount of claims filed by its members, it mitigates its exposure to significant claims by entering into 
contracts with reinsurers. It is not possible to determine the amount by which actual settlements and amounts 
recoverable from reinsurers will differ from amounts reserved. 

These contracts with reinsurers include provisions for claims experience adjustments which are recognised by 
the Society once the amounts and timing of these adjustments are known. 

 
2012 

$ 
2011 

$ 
Change in reserve 
Balance - Beginning of year 117,090 105,242 
   
Changes due to business growth 16,351 11,754 
   
Changes in assumptions   

Change in interest rate (256) 3,990 
Change in other assumptions (6,338) (3,896) 

   
Balance - End of year $126,847 $117,090 
   
Current 53,321 49,652 
Non-current 73,526 67,438 
 $126,847 $117,090 

 
Role of the Appointed Actuary 

The Appointed Actuary is appointed by the Board of Directors to carry out an annual valuation of policy 
liabilities. In performing the valuation, the Appointed Actuary makes assumptions as to future rates of interest, 
expenses, inflation, reinsurance recoveries, and other contingencies taking into account the circumstances of 
the Society and the policies in force. The Appointed Actuary is responsible for ensuring that these assumptions 
and the methods for the valuation of policy liabilities are in accordance with accepted actuarial practice, 
applicable legislation, and associated regulations, and is required to provide an opinion on the appropriateness 
of the policy liabilities at the balance sheet date to meet all policyholder obligations. 
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13. Members’ dues received in advance 

Dues received in advance are premiums for annual policies that have been received but not been fully earned at the 
balance sheet date. They are recognised in the consolidated statement of income and comprehensive income in the 
period to which coverage is in force.   
 
At year end the split between travel plans and health plans was: 
 

 2012 
$ 

2011 
$ 

   Travel plans 3,248 2,511 
Health plans 6,662 5,257 

 $9,910 $7,768 
 

   
   Current 9,910 7,768 

Non-current - - 
 $9,910 $7,768 

 
 
14. Trade and other payables 

 2012 
$ 

2011 
$ 

Due to groups 78,840 70,336 
Member deposits 43,233 43,221 
Outstanding cheques 46,554 44,049 
Trade 9,415 10,965 
Clients 3,927 3,438 
Payroll 2,830 2,382 
Reinsurance 1,071 1,099 
Other 357 343 

 $186,227 $175,833 
   

Current 186,227 175,833 
Non-current - - 

 $186,227 $175,833 
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15. Funds held on behalf of members  

As at December 31, 2012, $6,422 (2011: $8,091) was held on behalf of self-insured groups to fund future 
claims and expenses. These funds are not included in the financial statements of the Society. Any interest 
earned on these funds is for the benefit of the self-insured group. 

16. Commitments 

The Society has commitments for operating leases relating to property, equipment and contracts for software 
development. Future minimum annual payments are as follows: 

 $ 
  
2013 3,012 
2014  2,833 
2015 2,800 
2016 and beyond 10,354 

 
The Society's bank has issued letters of credit for pension obligations in the amount of $5,024 (2011: $1,758) 
which is secured by a charge over short-term securities. 

The Society leases land and building under a non-cancellable operating lease agreement. The lease expires in 
November 2018.  It is a 15 year lease which includes two five year renewal options. The lease also covers the 
operating costs of 4250 Canada Way, Burnaby, British Columbia.   

The lease expenditure charged to the consolidated statement of income and other comprehensive income 
during the year is $3,882 (2011: $3,699). 
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17. Pension plans and post-employment benefits 

The Society sponsors contributory defined benefit plans for eligible management employees and a contributory 
defined contribution plan for eligible hourly and management employees. 

In addition to its pension plans, the Society also provides certain post-employment medical and dental benefits 
to eligible employees and dependants upon meeting certain requirements. The post-employment benefits are 
currently not funded. 

Total cash payments for employee future benefits for 2012, consisting of cash contributed by the Society to its 
funded pension plan, cash payments directly to beneficiaries for unfunded post-employment benefit plans, and 
cash contributed to its defined contribution plan, were $3,232 (2011: $3,115).  The details are as follows: 

 2012 
$ 

2011 
$ 

Cash payments to:   
Beneficiaries for unfunded post-employment benefit plans 464 455 
Retirement Compensation Agreement plan 167 167 
Defined contribution plan 2,601 2,493 
 $3,232 $3,115 

 

The Society measures its accrued benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets for accounting purposes 
as at December 31 of each year. The most recent actuarial valuation of the pension plans for funding purposes 
was at December 31, 2011, and the next required valuation will be as of December 31, 2014. The valuation 
was used for these financial statements is a roll-forward of the prior valuation of December 31, 2011. 
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Information regarding the pension plans and post-employment benefits is as follows: 
   

 
Pension  

plan 

Retirement 
Compensation 

Agreement 

Total 
defined 
pension 

plan 

Post- 
employment  

benefitss Total  
 2012 2012 2012 2012 2012 
 $ $ $ $ $ 
Change in benefit obligation    
Benefit obligation - Beginning of 
year             4,010                3,563              7,573            25,369  

          
32,942  

Actuarial loss               265                   434                699                221  920  
Interest cost               171  -               171              1,070  1,241  
Current service cost                 44                   126                170                741  911  
Benefits paid              (263)                 (167)              (430)              (464)  (894) 
Benefit obligation - End of year  $4,227   $3,956   $8,183   $26,937  $35,120  
    
Current year obligation               307                   293                600              1,205  1,805  
Non-current             3,920                3,663              7,583            25,732  33,315  

Change in plan assets    
Fair value of plan assets - 
Beginning of year             3,563   -             3,563   -

          
3,563  

Actual return               331   -               331   - 331  
Benefits paid              (279)  -              (279)  -  (279) 
Fair value of plan assets -  
End of year             3,615   -             3,615   -

          
3,615  

Net deficit   $(612)  $(3,956)  $(4,568)  $(26,937)  $(31,505) 
      
Current service cost                 44                   126                170                741  911  
Interest cost               171   -                171              1,070  1,241  
Expected return on plan assets              (143)  -              (143) -  (143) 

Gain on Investment              (188) -              (188) - 
           

(188) 
(Recovery) Expense before OCI  $(116) $126 $10 $1,811 $1,821 
 
Charge to OCI 

    

Actuarial loss               265                   434                699               221  920       

Net change  $149   $560   $709  $2,032   $2,741  
     
Experience adjustment on 
obligation  $(4)  $(39)  $(43)  $394   $351  
Experience adjustment on asset $188 $- $188 $- $188 

 
Current year service costs are management’s best estimate of contributions expected for 2013. 
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Pension 

plan 

Retirement 
Compensation 

Agreement 

Total 
defined 
pension 

plan 

Post-
employment 

benefits Total 
 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 
 $ $ $ $ $ 
Change in benefit obligation      
Benefit obligation - Beginning of year           3,725                3,105             6,830            22,987           29,817  
Actuarial loss              373                   475                848                878             1,726  
Interest cost              143   -                143              1,154             1,297  
Current service cost                48                   150                198                805             1,003  
Benefits paid            (279)                (167)             (446)             (455)            (901) 
Benefit obligation - End of year   $4,010    $3,563    $7,573   $25,369    $ 32,942  
      
Current year obligation              429                   215                644              1,260             1,904  
Non-current           3,581                3,348             6,929            24,109          31,038  
      
Change in plan assets      
Fair value of plan assets - Beginning 
of year 

           
3,846   -            3,846   -            3,846  

Actual return  (4)  -                 (4)  -                (4) 
Benefits paid            (279)  -             (279)  -            (279) 
Fair value of plan assets - End of year   $3,563                  -     $3,563                  -     $3,563  
      
Net deficit    $(447)   $(3,563)   $(4,010)   $(25,369)   $(29,379) 
      
Current service cost                48                   150                198                805             1,003  
Interest cost              143                      -                 143              1,154             1,297  
Expected return on plan assets            (140)                     -               (140)                  -              (140) 
Expense before OCI   $51    $150    $201    $1,959    $2,160  
 
Charge to OCI      
Actuarial loss  373                   475                848                878             1,726  
Net change   $424    $625    $1,049    $2,837    $3,886  
      
Experience adjustment on obligation  $5    $(88)  $(83)  $(476)  $(559) 
Experience adjustment on asset $(144)  $- $(144) $- $(144) 
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Pension 

plan 

Retirement 
Compensation 

Agreement 

Total 
defined 
pension 

plan 

Post-
employment 

benefits Total 
 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 
 $ $ $ $ $ 
      
Change in benefit obligation      
Benefit obligation - Beginning of 
year 

           
2,732                3,146             5,878   20,757  26,635  

Actuarial loss              988   -               988   767   1,755  
Interest cost              221   -               221   1,170   1,391  
Current service cost                43                   124                167                741  908  

Benefits paid 
             

(259)                 (165)             (424)  (448)  (872) 
Benefit obligation - End of year   $ 3,725    $3,105    $6,830   $22,987   $29,817  
      
Current year obligation              302                   289                591              1,189             1,780  
Non-current           3,423                2,816             6,239            21,798           28,037  
      
Change in plan assets      
Fair value of plan assets - 
Beginning of year 

           
3,693   -            3,693   -            3,693  

Actual return 377   -               377   -               377  
Employer contributions              200   -               200   -               200  
Benefits paid            (424)  -             (424)  -  (424) 
Fair value of plan assets - End of 
year   $3,846   -     $3,846   -     $3,846  
Net deficit    $121    $(3,105)   $(2,984)   $(22,987)   $ (25,971) 
      
Current service cost                43                   124                167                741   908  
Interest cost              221   -                 221   1,170   1,391  
Expected return on plan assets            (223)  -             (223)  -  (223) 
Expense before OCI  $41   $124   $165   $1,911   $2,076  
 
Charge to OCI      
Actuarial loss                988   -                 988                767   1,755  
Net change  $1,029   $124   $1,153   $2,678   $3,831  
      
Experience adjustment on 
obligation $2 $(105) $(103)  $(305)  $(408) 
Experience adjustment on asset $154 $- $154 $- $154 

 



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2012 
(in thousands of dollars) 
 

 52 

 

The Society’s net benefit plan expense (recovery) for the pension plans and post-employment benefits is as 
follows: 

 
Pension 

plan 

Post-
employment 

benefits 
Pension 

plan 

Post-
employment 

benefits 
     
 2012 

$ 
2012 

$ 
2011 

$ 
2011 

$ 
     

Current service cost 170 741 198 805 
Interest cost 171 1,070 143 1,155 
Expected return on plan assets (143) - (140) - 
Actuarial loss 699 221 848 878 
Gain on assets (188) - - - 
Net expense $709 $2,032 $1,049 $2,838 
 
Pension plan assets consist of: 

 
Percentage of plan 

assets 
Percentage of plan 

assets 
   

 
2012 

% 
2011 

% 
   

Balanced funds 100 100 
 
 
Weighted average assumptions as at December 31 are as follows: 

 
Pension 

plan 

Post-
employment 

benefits 
Pension 

plan 

Post-
employment 

benefits 
     

 
2012 

% 
2012 

% 
2011 

% 
2011 

% 
     

Discount rate 4.10 4.10 4.70 4.70 
Expected long-term rate of 
return on plan assets 3.53 n/a 4.00 n/a 
Rate of compensation increase 1.10 n/a 1.50 n/a 
Rate of medical cost trend n/a 3.60 n/a 4.00 

 
The overall expected rate of return on the assets is determined based on market expectations applicable to 
the period over which the obligation  is settled. 
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A one percentage point change in the assumed medical cost trend would have the following effect: 

December 31, 2012 Increase Decrease 

Benefit cost $212 $(156) 
Accrued benefit obligation $5,444 $(4,220) 
   

December 31, 2011 Increase Decrease 

Benefit cost $222 $(163) 
Accrued benefit obligation $4,907 $(3,814) 
 

A one percentage point change in the assumed discount rate on post-employment benefits would have the 
following effect: 

December 31, 2012 Increase Decrease 

Benefit cost $(171) $234 
Accrued benefit obligation $(4,419) $5,745 
   

December 31, 2011 Increase Decrease 

Benefit cost $(179) $246 
Accrued benefit obligation $(4,059) $5,257 
 

A one percentage point change in the assumed discount rate on pension plans would have the following effect: 

December 31, 2012 Increase Decrease 

Benefit cost $(18) $21 
Accrued benefit obligation $(758) $894 

December 31, 2011 Increase Decrease 

Benefit cost $(21) $26 
Accrued benefit obligation $(694) $823 
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18. Other comprehensive loss 

 Actuarial adjustments to the pension plans and post retirements are charged to other comprehensive loss.  
The total charge to other comprehensive loss since inception of IFRS is ($4,401) (2011: ($3,481)). 

Details by plan sources are outlined below by year. 

 
Pension 

plan 

Retirement 
Compensation 

Agreement 

Total 
pension 

plan 

Post-
employment 

benefits Total 
 $  $ $ $ $ 

2010  (988)  -  (988)  (767)  (1,755) 
2011  (373)  (475)  (848)  (878)  (1,726) 
2012  (265)  (434)  (699)  (221)  (920) 

 $(1,626) $(909) $(2,535) $(1,866) $(4,401) 
 
19. General and administrative costs 

 2012 
$ 

 

2011 
$ 

 
Salaries  41,723 38,663 
Benefits (note 17 and 18) 11,188 12,525 
Consulting fees and professional services  4,854 4,011 
Amortisation of property and equipment 1,640 1,582 
Amortisation of intangible assets 2,895 2,430 
Strategic project costs 5,074 5,057 
Occupancy costs 3,882 3,699 
Information technology 2,693 2,753 
Other 2,339 2,866 
Stationery and supplies 951 1,189 
Postage, delivery and storage 1,853 1,915 
Advertising and promotion 2,392 2,096 
Net HST 2,866 2,472 
Miscellaneous 207 - 
 

$84,557 $81,258 
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20. Related party transactions 

The Society considers key management personnel to be the Board of Directors, Executive and Leadership 
group. 

 
Key management compensation 2012 

$ 
2011 

$ 

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 5,265 4,230 
Post-employment benefits 634 353 
Other long-term benefits 290 295 

 
21. Financial instrument risk management 

For financial instrument risk disclosures relating to the PIMCO Fund, refer to Notes 24 through 35.  

The Society’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse risks, to set appropriate risk 
tolerance limits, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits through the maintenance of a strong 
control environment and use of information systems. Financial instrument risk management is carried out 
by an Investment Committee which reports to the Board of Directors. The Board sets written policies for 
risk tolerance and overall risk management and management report to the Board on compliance with the 
risk management policies of the Society. A Statement of Investment Policies and Procedures (“SIPP”) and 
Investment Manager Mandates (“IMM”) are used to set overall risk tolerance. In addition, the Society 
maintains an internal audit function with responsibility for review of the overall control environment. 

The Society is exposed to a range of financial risks through its financial assets, financial liabilities, 
reinsurance assets and insurance claims reserves. The most important components of these specific 
financial instrument risks are related to credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk, as described below. The 
key financial risk is that in the long-term the Society’s investment portfolio is not sufficient to fund its 
insurance obligations. 
 
Credit risk 
 
The Society is exposed to credit risk principally through its cash and cash equivalents, directly held fixed 
income investments, trade and other receivables and amounts due from reinsurers. The Society has 
policies to limit and monitor its exposure to individual issuers and classes of issuers of investment 
securities which do not carry the guarantee of a national or Canadian provincial government. The Society 
invests short-term surplus cash in guaranteed deposits with British Columbia credit unions and federally 
incorporated Canadian banks. The Society monitors its exposure in respect of premiums and other 
receivables to ensure that credit is provided on normal commercial trade terms and to minimise the risk of 
any large concentration of credit risk. Trade and other receivables have a short term to maturity and are 
not considered to represent a significant credit risk. The Society’s credit exposure to any one policyholder 
is monitored by management. The Society also has policies which manage its exposure to individual 
reinsurers and regularly reviews the creditworthiness of reinsurers with whom it transacts business. As at 
December 31, 2012, the Society’s reinsurers had a rating of A- (2011, A-) or above based on AM Best 
ratings. The Society has no off-balance sheet exposures to credit risk. The Society’s maximum exposure 
to credit risk is summarised below: 
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2012 

$ 
2011 

$ 
   

Cash and cash equivalents 44,223 34,041 
Fixed income investments 5,844 5,799 
Trade and other receivables 35,817 34,463 
Amounts due from reinsurers 64,884 60,871 

 $150,768 $135,174 

There is a risk of the credit profile of specific investments changing over time and not meeting minimum 
quality requirements or defaulting and requiring action to mitigate losses. The Society has developed 
policies and procedures to mitigate the risk associated with credit ratings. Through the SIPP and IMM, the 
Society addresses each of the principles and requirements related to credit rating and credit risk 
management. The Society has a significant inherent exposure to changes in credit risk due to its reliance 
on fixed income investments. However, management believes the exposure to material credit risk is 
unlikely through maintenance of a low credit risk fixed investment profile, despite current economic and 
market uncertainties. 

 
The carrying value of the Society’s fixed income investments as at December 31 is as follows: 

 2012 
$ 

 
% 

2011 
$ 

 
% 

     
Canadian federal government 1,077 18.4 1,560 26.9 
Canadian provincial and 

municipal government 
 

1,772 
 

30.3 
 

1,497 
 

25.8 
Other foreign governments 16 0.3 66 1.1 
Corporate bonds 2,979 51.0 2,676 46.2 

 $5,844 100% $5,799 100% 

 

There were no fixed income investments held as at year-end which have past due interest or had a 
modification of terms during the year. There were no trade and other receivables, amounts due from 
reinsurers, and cash and cash equivalents held as year-end which have a modification of terms during the 
year. 
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Concentration of credit risk 
 
The assets above are analysed in the table below using Standard & Poors (“S&P”) rating (or equivalent when 
not available from S&P). The concentration of credit risk is substantially unchanged compared to the prior 
year. 

 
 
December 31, 2012 

 
AAA 

$ 

 
AA 
$ 

 
A 
$ 

 
BBB 

$ 

Below 
BBB 

$ 

Not 
rated 

$ 

 
Total 

$ 
Cash and cash 
equivalents      44,223 44,223 
Fixed income 1,409 1,756 1,884 423  372 5,844 
Trade and other 
receivables      35,817 35,817 
Amounts due from 
reinsurers   64,884    64,884 
Total $1,409 $1,756 $66,768 $423 $- $80,412 $150,768 
        
 
 
December 31, 2011 

 
AAA 

$ 

 
AA 
$ 

 
A 
$ 

 
BBB 

$ 

Below 
BBB 

$ 

Not 
rated 

$ 

 
Total 

$ 
Cash and cash 
equivalents      34,041 34,041 
Fixed income 3,493 878 1,113   315 5,799 
Trade and other 
receivables      34,463 34,463 
Amounts due from 
reinsurers   60,871    60,871 
Total $3,493 $878 $61,984 $- $- $68,819 $135,174 

 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates. 

Interest rate risk 

The risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates;  

Currency risk 

The risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates; 
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Other price risk 

The risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether 
those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or 
factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. 

The Society manages these risks by a variety of risk management techniques which include diversification 
of investments and may include the periodic use of forward foreign exchange derivative contracts to 
mitigate exposure to adverse movements in foreign currency exchange rates.  

The Society maintains policies and procedures detailing the acceptable levels of market risk. The Society’s 
key financial risk management tool is its investment policy which is defined in a SIPP and IMM.  

The target level for all fixed income investments is 55% (2011: 55%) of the total portfolio. No one issuer 
greater than 8 %( 2011: 8%) is allowed in the bond portfolio.  No more than 20% (2011: 20%) of bonds can 
be in emerging market securities.   

The target level for investments in Canadian equity markets is 20% (2011: 20%) of the total portfolio. No 
single equity can be greater than 10% (2011: 10%) of a single corporation. The investments must be 
invested in at least six sectors of the appropriate index. 

The target level for investments in Global equity markets is 15% (2011: 15%) of the total portfolio. The 
investments must be invested in at least seven sectors of the appropriate index. 

The target level for the real estate fund is 10% (2011: 10%) of the total portfolio. The real estate fund is 
restricted to Canadian properties and diversified over office, industrial and retail buildings. Leverage is 
restricted to 50% (2011: 50%) of the fair market value of the fund. 

Compliance with the policies is monitored and exposures and breaches are reported to the Board. The 
policies are reviewed annually for relevance and changes to the risk environment. The life insurance 
component of the Society’s investments exposure to market risks is generally offset by the corresponding 
exposure of its policy obligations. As the policy liabilities for these obligations are calculated based on 
market values, increases and decreases in these risk variables affect both investment income and the 
change in the carrying value of policy liabilities. The activity of investments and holdings is presented to 
the Investment Committee of the Board on a quarterly basis to ensure that the policies governing the 
portfolio are being adhered to. The Dynamic Capital Adequacy Test (“DCAT”), which involves scenario 
testing, is a tool that is periodically used by management to determine potential risks and impacts to the 
Society. 
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The impact on net income and equity of a reasonable possible change in each of these variables is 
described below: 

(a) Interest rate 

The immediate impact on income from fixed income investments of a 1% increase or decrease in 
interest rates would not be significant due to the portfolio primarily consisting of fixed rate 
investments.  The immediate impact on the fair value of fixed income investments of a 1% change in 
interest rates would be approximately $346 (2011: $329). 

(b) Foreign currency 

The Society has no foreign currency exposure in its financial liabilities. The Society is exposed to 
fluctuations in US foreign currency movements through its investment in a US dollar denominated 
pooled investment fund which is held in Canadian dollars. The Society’s principal foreign currency 
exposure is to changes in the value of the US dollar on the fair value of US dollar denominated 
investments. The Society's investment managers manage foreign exchange risk as an integral 
component of overall price risk. The sensitivity of equity securities and equity pooled funds to overall 
changes in price risk is disclosed below. 

The immediate impact on the fair value of foreign currency investment of a 1% increase or decrease 
on percentage change in exchange rate is approximately $235 (2011: $256). 

The Society may periodically use foreign currency derivative instruments to help manage its foreign 
currency risks. The Society does not engage in speculative investment in derivatives. The exposure is 
managed by delegated investment managers, who are permitted, within strict limits, to enter into 
forward foreign currency contracts to offset changes in fair values of foreign denominated 
investments. There were no forward foreign currency contracts held at December 31, 2012 and 2011.  
The PIMCO Fund held foreign currency contracts and sensitivity is disclosed in notes 24 through 35 
of these financial statements. 
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(c) Other price risk 

The immediate impact on equities and investments in pooled funds of a 1% increase or decrease in 
the relevant indices would be approximately $1,384 (2011: $1,335) with all other variables held 
constant and assuming the Society's equity instruments moved according to historical correlation with 
relevant indices. This includes the real estate fund, fixed income pooled funds and equities. 

The Society’s equity investments are diversified through investments in direct equities and pooled funds 
with a strategy which matches the Society’s risk tolerance levels. The carrying value of equities and pooled 
funds by geographic sector as at December 31 is as follows: 

 
2012 

$ 
2011 

$ 
   

Equity securities   
Canada 44,001 42,978 
United States 23,506 25,609 

 $67,507 $68,587 
   
Fixed income investments $5,844 $5,800 
   
Pooled funds   
Fixed Income 2,776 2,627 
Canada 11,816 10,007 
United States 1,806 1,657 
International 25,284 22,173 

 $41,682 $36,464 
   
Real estate fund $32,080 $28,485 

 $147,113 $139,336 
 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 
financial liabilities. Liquidity management involves maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities or 
an adequate amount of funding to meet financial obligations as they come due. If the Society fails to 
anticipate the medium and long-term cash demands of its products and operations and/or the potential for 
variances arising from economic and regulatory changes, this could result in a risk of the Society having 
insufficient cash to meet its contractual obligations to policyholders, brokers, reinsurers, claimants or 
creditors. The Society has implemented policies and procedures to mitigate risks associated with liquidity 
management. These policies and procedures contribute to prudent and sound management of all aspects 
of liquidity. 

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Society’s cash flows and the maturity dates of liquid assets 
on the basis of expected cash flows. The Society’s liabilities principally comprise short-term accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities and claims reserves. As the exact timing of the maturity of the Society’s 
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claims reserves is unknown and is indeterminable, the Society manages the maturity of claims by the use 
of an overall historical liability settlement pattern as a basis to define diversification and duration 
characteristics of future liabilities. 

The products offered by the Society present low risk as the main product lines are yearly renewable 
products, usually with rate guarantees of 12 months on renewal. The Society offers standard product 
options which do not involve significant cash disbursements while the policies are in force.  Reinsurance 
and catastrophe reinsurance policies are in place to manage risk to the Society and protect its solvency in 
the case of an adverse event. 

December 31, 2012 
Total 

$ 
Within 
 1 year 1-5 years 

 
6-10 years 

Over 
11 years 

      
Cash and cash equivalents 44,223 44,223 - - - 
Fixed term investments and 

fixed income pooled funds 8,620 2,876 2,854 1,319 1,571 
Real estate funds 32,080 30,823 1,257 - - 
Equities and equity pool funds 106,413 106,413 - - - 
Trade and other receivables 35,814 35,814 - - - 
Amounts due from reinsurer 64,884 17,923 20,935 11,841 14,185 

 $292,034 $238,072 $25,046 $13,160 $15,756 
      

Insurance liabilities 
 

126,823 
 

53,321 
 

32,767 
 

18,534 22,201 
Members’ dues received in 

advance 9,910 9,910 - - - 
Trade and other payables 186,250 186,250 - - - 

 $322,983 $249,481 $32,767 $18,534 $22,201 
 
The investment in the PIMCO Fund is not reflected in these liquidity disclosures and would be factored in if 
a shortfall in cash were to occur by withdrawal of funds. The above table does not include the employee 
benefit obligation of $31,505 (2011:  $29,379). 
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December 31, 2011 
Total 

$ 
Within 
 1 year 1-5 years 

 
6-10 years 

Over 
11 years 

      
Cash and cash equivalents 34,041 34,041 - - - 
Fixed term investments and fixed 

income pooled funds 8,426 3,017 2,695 2,714 - 
Real estate funds 28,485 28,485 - - - 
Equities and equity pool funds 102,434 102,434 - - - 
Trade and other receivables 34,463 34,463 - - - 
Amounts due from reinsurers 60,871 17,633 19,394 10,592 13,252 

 $268,720 $220,073 $22,089 $13,306 $13,252 
      

Insurance liabilities 117,090 49,652 30,249 16,520 20,669 
Members’ dues received in 

advance 7,768 7,768 
 

- - - 
Trade and other payables 175,833 175,833 - - - 

 $300,691 $233,253 $30,249 $16,520 $20,669 
 
The investment in the PIMCO Fund is not reflected in these liquidity disclosures and would be factored in if 
a shortfall in cash were to occur by withdrawal of funds. The above table does not include the employee 
benefit obligation of $29,379. (2010: $25,971).  
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22. Contingencies 

During the normal course of operations, legal proceedings may arise from time to time against the Society from 
insurance claimants. The Society has policies and procedures in place concerning its claims adjudication 
procedures. Management has reviewed outstanding legal matters pending as at December 31, 2012 and 2011 
and considers the risk of significant loss to be remote. As of the date of these financial statements, the outcome 
of these proceedings cannot be reasonably estimated; therefore, no amounts have been recorded in the 
financial statements. 

23. Capital disclosure 

The Society's capital objective is to provide for maintenance of capital to provide an available and effective 
resource to support business activities. Additional objectives include maintaining safety and stability by 
ensuring capital is adequate to reduce risk exposure in a variety of situations, that sufficient capital exists for 
future needs and strategic initiatives and to satisfy expectations of members. 

The Society is externally regulated by the FICOM.  The Society reports quarterly to the regulatory agency. The 
regulatory agency imposes minimum continuing capital and surplus requirements (“MCCSR”).  The guidelines 
provide minimum and supervisory target capital levels. FICOM requires a 150% minimum capital requirement.  
The Society maintains a Capital Risk Management Policy to ensure objectives are met and capital is managed 
within distinct stages relating to specific levels of the MCCSR. During 2012 and as at December 31, 2012, the 
Society fully met the regulatory capital requirements. The Society manages its capital by maintaining an 
investment portfolio that is 90% to 100% of the total equity of the Society. The reference to total equity includes 
other comprehensive income.  The investments are governed by the SIPP. The SIPP requires high quality 
investments and the investment portfolio is presented to the Investment Committee of the Board every six 
months by the Society’s fund managers.  Any substandard investments are sold to maintain the quality of the 
fund. The holdings may include pooled funds, bonds and common equities. There are concentration limits 
imposed as well to the portfolio, by industry and by investment instrument. 

The MCCSR ratio over the last 10 years has been within a target range of 200%.  
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24. Description of the Fund 

The Society, together with BC Life, holds 100% of the units of the PIMCO Canada Canadian Tactical Bond Fund 
(the “Fund”). The Fund was established as an open-ended unit fund under the laws of the Province of Ontario and 
governed by the terms of a Fund Agreement. 
 

 
Date Established 

Commencement of 
Operations 

PIMCO Canada Canadian  
Tactical Bond Fund December 31, 2004 October 29, 2010 

 
PIMCO Canada Corp. (“PIMCO Canada”) is the manager of the Fund (the Investment Manager), Pacific Investment 
Management Company LLC (“PIMCO”) is the sub-adviser and State Street Fund Company Canada is the Trustee 
and custodian of the Fund (the “Trustee”). 
 
The following is a summary of significant accounting policies consistently followed by the Fund in the preparation of 
their financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The preparation of 
financial statements in accordance with IFRS may require management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported amounts of increases and decreases in net assets from operations during 
the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
(a) Determination of Net Assets Value and Net Asset 
The net asset value (“Net Asset Value”) of the Fund is determined as of the close of regular trading (normally 4:00 
p.m., Eastern time) (the “TSX Close”) on each day that the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) is open.The Investment 
Manager may temporarily suspend the determination of Net Asset Value of the Fund and in connection therewith, 
the issue, repurchase and switches of units in or from the Fund under certain circumstances, as defined in the 
current offering memorandum of the Fund. 
 
For the purpose of calculating the net assets (“Net Assets”) for financial statement reporting, IFRS requires the fair 
value of investments traded in active markets to be measured using the closing bid price for long positions and 
closing ask price for short positions. The Fund use the close or last trade price as fair value of investments traded on 
an exchange to determine the daily Net Asset Value for purchases and redemptions by unitholders. The difference 
between the valuation of investments positions as prescribed by IFRS and the methodology indicated in the Fund’s 
Offering Memorandum is not materially different. 
 
(b) Securities Transactions, Investment Income and Transaction Costs 
Securities transactions are recorded as of the trade date for financial reporting purposes. Securities purchased or 
sold on a when-issued or delayed-delivery basis may be settled 15 days or more after the trade date. Realised and 
unrealised gains and losses are recorded on an average cost basis. Interest income, adjusted for the accretion of 
discounts and amortisation of premiums, is recorded on the accrual basis from settlement date. Estimated tax 
liabilities on certain foreign securities are recorded on an accrual basis and are reflected as components of interest 
income or a net change in unrealised appreciation (depreciation) on investments on the Statement of Operations of 
the Fund, as appropriate. Tax liabilities realised as a result of such security sales are reflected as a component of 
net realised gain/loss on investments on the Statement of Operations of the Fund. Paydown gains and losses on 
mortgage-related and other asset-backed securities are recorded as components of realised gain (loss) on the 
Statements of Operations.  
 
Transaction costs, such as brokerage commissions incurred in the purchase and sale of securities by the Fund, are 
recognised as expenses in the Statement of Operations of the Fund. Transaction costs are incremental costs that 
are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of an investment, which include fees and commissions 
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paid to agents, advisors, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies and securities exchanges, and transfer 
taxes and duties. 
 
(c) Cash and Foreign Currency  
The functional and reporting currency for the Fund is the Canadian dollar. The fair values of foreign securities, 
currency holdings and other assets and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars based on the current 
exchange rates each business day. Fluctuations in the value of currency holdings and other assets and liabilities 
resulting from changes in exchange rates are recorded as unrealised foreign currency gains or losses. Realised 
gains or losses and unrealised appreciation or depreciation on investment securities and income and expenses are 
translated on the respective dates of such transactions. The effects of changes in foreign currency exchange rates 
on investments in securities are not segregated on the Statement of Operations of the Fund from the effects of 
changes in fair values of those securities, but are included with the net realised and unrealised appreciation and 
depreciation on investment securities. 
 
(d) Unrealised Appreciation and Depreciation of Investments   
The unrealised appreciation and depreciation of investments represents the aggregate of the difference between 
their average cost and fair value at the period end date.  
 
(e) Increase or Decrease in Net Assets from Operations per Unit  
Increase or decrease in net assets from operations per unit in the Statement of Operations of the Fund represents 
the net increase or decrease in net assets from operations for the period divided by the weighted average units 
outstanding during the period. 
 
(f) Distributions to Unitholders   
The taxable net investment income is allocated and distributed to unitholders on a quarterly basis. The net realised 
capital gains are distributed to unitholders annually. The Fund may also make other distributions at such time or 
times as the Investment Manager determines.  
 
The distributions per unit, based on the number of units outstanding on the record dates for the distributions, for the 
Fund for the periods ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 are as follows:  
 

Distributions to Unitholders 2012 2011 
From net investment income $2.69 $2.59 

 
No provisions for income taxes are made in the financial statements as the net income and net capital gains are 
distributed to the unitholders. All distributions made by the Fund will be reinvested in additional units of the Fund or 
fractions of units of the Fund at the Net Asset Value per unit unless the Unitholder elects to receive distributions in 
cash. 
 
25.   Investment Valuation and Fair Value Measurements 
For purposes of calculating the Net Assets, portfolio securities and other assets for which market quotes are readily 
available are valued at fair value. Fair value is generally determined on the basis of the closing bid price for 
securities purchased long and the closing ask price for securities sold short, or if no sales are reported, based on bid 
quotes obtained from a quotation reporting system, established market makers, or pricing services. 
 
Investments initially valued in currencies other than the Canadian dollar are converted to the Canadian dollar using 
exchange rates obtained from pricing service providers. As a result, the Net Assets of the Fund’s shares may be 
affected by changes in the value of currencies in relation to the Canadian dollar. The value of securities traded in 
markets outside Canada or denominated in currencies other than the Canadian dollar may be affected significantly 
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on a day that the TSX is closed and the Net Assets may change on days when an investor is not able to purchase, 
redeem or exchange units. 
 
Fair value is the price that the Fund would receive to sell an asset or pay to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. IFRS establishes a fair value hierarchy that 
prioritises inputs to valuation methods and requires disclosure of the fair value hierarchy, separately for each major 
category of assets and liabilities, that segregates fair value measurements into levels (Level 1, 2, and 3). The inputs 
or methodology used for valuing securities are not necessarily an indication of the risk associated with investing in 
those securities. Levels 1, 2, and 3 of the fair value hierarchy are defined as follows: 
 
• Level 1—Inputs using quoted prices in active markets or exchanges for identical assets and liabilities. 
 
• Level 2—Significant other observable inputs, which may include, but are not limited to, quoted prices for similar 
assets or liabilities in markets that are active, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that 
are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the assets or liabilities (such as interest rates, 
yield curves, volatilities, prepayment speeds, loss severities, credit risks and default rates) or other market 
corroborated inputs. 
 
• Level 3—Significant unobservable inputs based on the best information available in the circumstances, to the 
extent observable inputs are not available, which may include assumptions made by the Investment Manager or 
persons acting at their direction that are used in determining the fair value of investments. 
 
Level 1 and Level 2 trading assets and trading liabilities, at fair value  
The valuation techniques and significant inputs used in determining the fair values of financial instruments classified 
as Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are as follows: 
 
Fixed income securities including corporate, convertible and municipal bonds and notes, U.S. or Canadian 
government agencies, U.S. or Canadian treasury obligations, sovereign issues, bank loans, convertible preferred 
securities and non-U.S. bonds are normally valued by pricing service providers that use broker dealer quotations, 
reported trades or valuation estimates from their internal pricing models. The service providers’ internal models use 
inputs that are observable such as issuer details, interest rates, yield curves, prepayment speeds, credit 
risks/spreads, default rates and quoted prices for similar assets. Securities that use similar valuation techniques and 
inputs as described above are categorised as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 
 
Fixed income securities purchased on a delayed-delivery basis are marked to market daily until settlement at the 
forward settlement date are categorised as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 
 
Mortgage-related and asset-backed securities are usually issued as separate tranches, or classes, of securities 
within each deal. These securities are also normally valued by pricing service providers that use broker dealer 
quotations or valuation estimates from their internal pricing models. The pricing models for these securities usually 
consider tranche-level attributes, current market data, estimated cash flows and market-based yield spreads for 
each tranche, and incorporate deal collateral performance, as available. Mortgage-related and asset-backed 
securities that use similar valuation techniques and inputs as described above are categorised as Level 2 of the fair 
value hierarchy. 
 
Common stocks, exchange-traded funds and financial derivative instruments, such as futures contracts or options 
contracts that are traded on a national securities exchange, are stated at the closing bid or ask prices price on the 
day of valuation. To the extent these securities are actively traded and valuation adjustments are not applied, they 
are categorised as Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. Valuation adjustments may be applied to certain securities 
that are solely traded on a foreign exchange to account for the market movement between the close of the foreign 
market and the close of the TSX. These securities are valued using pricing service providers that consider the 
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correlation of the trading patterns of the foreign security to the intraday trading in the local markets for investments. 
Securities using these valuation adjustments are categorised as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. Preferred 
securities and other equities traded on inactive markets or valued by reference to similar instruments are also 
categorised as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.  
 
Short-term investments having a maturity of 60 days or less are generally valued at their latest bid quotation 
received from recognised investment dealers. If no bid price is available, they are valued at their amortised cost 
which approximates fair value. These investments are categorised as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 
 
Over-the-counter financial derivative instruments, such as foreign currency contracts, options contracts, or swap 
agreements, derive their value from underlying asset prices, indices, reference rates, and other inputs or a 
combination of these factors. These contracts are normally valued on the basis of broker dealer quotations or by 
pricing service providers. Depending on the product and the terms of the transaction, the value of financial 
derivatives can be estimated by a pricing service provider using a series of techniques, including simulation pricing 
models. The pricing models use inputs that are observed from actively quoted markets such as issuer details, 
indices, spreads, interest rates, curves, dividends and exchange rates. Financial derivatives that use similar 
valuation techniques and inputs as described above are categorised as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 
 
Centrally cleared swaps listed or traded on a multilateral or trade facility platform, such as a registered exchange are 
valued by the respective exchange. For centrally cleared credit default swaps the clearing facility requires its 
members to provide actionable levels across complete term structures. These levels along with external third party 
prices are used to produce daily settlement prices. Centrally cleared interest rate swaps are valued using a pricing 
model that references the underlying rates including the overnight index swap rate and London Offered Rate 
(“LIBOR”) forward rate to predict daily settlement rate.. These securities are categorised as Level 2 of the fair value 
hierarchy. 
 
Level 3 trading assets and trading liabilities, at fair value  
The valuation techniques and significant inputs used in determining the fair values of financial instruments classified 
as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy are as follows: 
 
Securities and other assets for which market quotes are not readily available are valued at fair value as determined 
in good faith by the Investment Manager or persons acting at their direction and are categorised as Level 3 of the 
fair value hierarchy. 
 
Market quotes are considered not readily available in circumstances where there is an absence of current or reliable 
market-based data (e.g., trade information or broker quotes), including where events occur after the close of the 
relevant market, but prior to the TSX Close, that materially affect the values of the Fund’s securities or assets. In 
addition, market quotes are considered not readily available when, due to extraordinary circumstances, the 
exchanges or markets on which the securities trade, do not open for trading for the entire day and no other market 
prices are available. The Investment Manager or persons acting at their direction  have delegated to the investment 
adviser, PIMCO, the responsibility for monitoring significant events that may materially affect the values of the 
Fund’s securities or assets and for determining whether the value of the applicable securities or assets should be 
evaluated in light of such significant events. 
 
The Investment Manager has adopted methods for valuing securities and other assets in circumstances where 
market quotes are not readily available, and has delegated the responsibility for applying the valuation methods to 
PIMCO. For instances in which daily market quotes are not readily available, investments may be valued, pursuant 
to guidelines established by the Investment Manager, with reference to other securities or indices. In the event that 
the security or asset cannot be valued pursuant to one of the valuation methods established by the Investment 
Manager, the value of the security or asset will be determined in good faith by the Valuation Committee of PIMCO or 
persons acting at their direction. When the Fund use fair valuation methods applied by PIMCO that use significant 
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unobservable inputs to determine its Net Assets, securities will be priced by a method that the Investment Manager 
or persons acting at their direction believe accurately reflects fair value and are categorised as Level 3 of the fair 
value hierarchy. These methods may require subjective determinations about the value of the security. While the 
Fund’s policy is intended to result in a calculation of the Fund’s Net Assets that fairly reflects security values as of 
the time of pricing, the Fund cannot guarantee that values determined by the Investment Manager or persons acting 
at their direction would accurately reflect the price that the Fund could obtain for a security if they were to dispose of 
that security as of the time of pricing (for instance, in a forced or distressed sale). The prices used by the Fund may 
differ from the value that would be realised if the securities were sold. 
 
For fair valuations using significant unobservable inputs, IFRS requires a reconciliation of the beginning to ending 
balances for reported fair values that presents changes attributable to total realised and unrealised gains or losses, 
purchases and sales, and transfers in or out of the Level 3 category during the period. The end of period timing 
recognition is used for the significant transfers between Levels of the Fund’s assets and liabilities. All of the Fund’s 
investments were classified as Level 2 as at December 31, 2012 and 2011. 
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26. Securities and Other Investments 

(a) Delayed-Delivery Transactions 
The Trust may purchase or sell securities on a delayed-delivery basis. These transactions involve a commitment by 
the Trust to purchase or sell securities for a predetermined price or yield, with payment and delivery taking place 
beyond the customary settlement period. When delayed-delivery transactions are outstanding, the Trust will 
designate or receive as collateral liquid assets in an amount sufficient to meet the purchase price or respective 
obligations. When purchasing a security on a delayed-delivery basis, the Trust assume the rights and risks of 
ownership of the security, including the risk of price and yield fluctuations, and takes such fluctuations into account 
when determining its Net Assets. The Trust may dispose of or renegotiate a delayed-delivery transaction after it is 
entered into which may result in a realized gain or loss. When the Trust has sold a security on a delayed-delivery 
basis, the Trust does not participate in future gains and losses with respect to the security.  
 
(b) Inflation-Indexed Bonds 
The Trust may invest in inflation-indexed bonds. Inflation-indexed bonds are fixed-income securities whose principal 
value is periodically adjusted to the rate of inflation. The interest rate on these bonds is generally fixed at issuance at 
a rate lower than typical bonds. Over the life of an inflation-indexed bond, however, interest will be paid based on a 
principal value which is adjusted for inflation. Any increase or decrease in the principal amount of an inflation-
indexed bond will be included as interest income on the Statements of Operations, even though investors do not 
receive their principal until maturity. 
 
(c) Loan Participations and Assignments 
The Fund may invest in direct debt instruments which are interests in amounts owed to lenders or lending 
syndicates by corporate, governmental, or other borrowers. The Fund’s investments in loans may be in the form of 
participations in loans or assignments of all or a portion of loans from third parties. A loan is often administered by a 
bank or other financial institution (the “lender”) that acts as agent for all holders. The agent administers the terms of 
the loan, as specified in the loan agreement. The Fund may invest in multiple series or tranches of a loan, which 
may have varying terms and carry different associated risks. The Fund generally has no right to enforce compliance 
with the terms of the loan agreement with the borrower. As a result, the Fund may be subject to the credit risk of 
both the borrower and the lender that is selling the loan agreement. When the Fund purchases assignments from 
lenders it acquires direct rights against the borrower of the loan. The Fund may also enter into unfunded loan 
commitments, which are contractual obligations for future funding. Unfunded loan commitments may include 
revolving credit facilities, which may obligate the Fund to supply additional cash to the borrower on demand. 
Unfunded loan commitments represent a future obligation in full, even though a percentage of the notional loan 
amounts will never be utilised by the borrower. When investing in a loan participation, the Fund have the right to 
receive payments of principal, interest and any fees to which it is entitled only from the lender selling the loan 
agreement and only upon receipt of payments by the lender from the borrower. The Fund may receive a 
commitment fee based on the undrawn portion of the underlying line of credit portion of a floating rate loan. In 
certain circumstances, the Fund may receive a prepayment penalty fee upon the prepayment of a floating rate loan 
by a borrower. Fees earned or paid are recorded as a component of interest income or interest expense, 
respectively, on the Statement of Operations of the Fund. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Fund had no 
unfunded loan commitments. 
 
(d) Mortgage-Related and Other Asset-Backed Securities 
The Fund may invest in mortgage-related and other asset-backed securities. These securities include mortgage 
pass-through securities, collateralised mortgage obligations, commercial mortgage-backed securities, asset-backed 
securities, collateralised debt obligations and other securities that directly or indirectly represent a participation in, or 
are secured by and payable from, mortgage loans on real property. Mortgage-related and other asset-backed 
securities are interests in pools of loans or other receivables. Mortgage-related securities are created from pools of 
residential or commercial mortgage loans, including mortgage loans made by savings and loan institutions, 
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mortgage bankers, commercial banks and others. Asset-backed securities are created from many types of assets, 
including auto loans, credit card receivables, home equity loans, and student loans. These securities provide a 
monthly payment which consists of both interest and principal payments. Interest payments may be determined by 
fixed or adjustable rates. The rate of pre-payments on underlying mortgages will affect the price and volatility of a 
mortgage-related security, and may have the effect of shortening or extending the effective duration of the security 
relative to what was anticipated at the time of purchase. The timely payment of principal and interest of certain 
mortgage-related securities is guaranteed with the full faith and credit of the U.S. Government. Pools created and 
guaranteed by non-governmental issuers, including government-sponsored corporations, may be supported by 
various forms of insurance or guarantees, but there can be no assurance that the private insurers or guarantors can 
meet their obligations under the insurance policies or guarantee arrangements. 
 
Collateralised Mortgage Obligations (“CMOs”) are debt obligations of a legal entity that are collateralised by 
mortgages and divided into classes. CMOs are structured into multiple classes, often referred to as “tranches,” with 
each class bearing a different stated maturity and entitled to a different schedule for payments of principal and 
interest, including pre-payments. Commercial Mortgage-Backed Securities (“CMBS”) include securities that reflect 
an interest in, and are secured by, mortgage loans on commercial real property. Many of the risks of investing in 
CMBS reflect the risks of investing in the real estate securing the underlying mortgage loans. These risks reflect the 
effects of local and other economic conditions on real estate markets, the ability of tenants to make loan payments, 
and the ability of a property to attract and retain tenants. CMOs and CMBS may be less liquid and may exhibit 
greater price volatility than other types of mortgage-related or asset-backed securities. 
 
(e) Government Agencies or Government-Sponsored Enterprises 
The Trust may invest in Canadian Government securities. Canadian Government securities are obligations of, or 
guaranteed by, the Canadian Government, its agencies or government-sponsored enterprises. Canadian 
Government securities are subject to market and interest rate risk and may be subject to varying degrees of credit 
risk. Canadian Government securities include zero coupon securities, which tend to be subject to greater market risk 
than interest-paying securities of similar maturities. 
 
The Trust may invest in securities of U.S. Government agencies or government-sponsored enterprises. U.S. 
Government securities are obligations of and, in certain cases, guaranteed by, the U.S. Government, its agencies or 
instrumentalities. Some U.S. Government securities, such as Treasury bills, notes and bonds, and securities 
guaranteed by the Government National Mortgage Association (“GNMA” or “Ginnie Mae”), are supported by the full 
faith and credit of the U.S. Government; others, such as those of the Federal Home Loan Banks, are supported by 
the right of the issuer to borrow from the U.S. Department of the Treasury (the “U.S. Treasury”); others, such as 
those of the Federal National Mortgage Association (“FNMA” or “Fannie Mae”), are supported by the discretionary 
authority of the U.S. Government to purchase the agency’s obligations. U.S. Government securities may include 
zero coupon securities, which do not distribute interest on a current basis and tend to be subject to greater risk than 
interest-paying securities of similar maturities such as U.S. Treasury Strips which are Treasury fixed-income 
securities sold at a discount to face value and offer no interest payments; rather, investors receive par at maturity. 
 
Government-related guarantors (i.e., not backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Government) include FNMA 
and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (“FHLMC” or “Freddie Mac”). FNMA is a government-sponsored 
corporation. FNMA purchases conventional (i.e., not insured or guaranteed by any government agency) residential 
mortgages from a list of approved seller/servicers which include state and federally chartered savings and loan 
associations, mutual savings banks, commercial banks and credit unions and mortgage bankers. Pass-through 
securities issued by FNMA are guaranteed as to timely payment of principal and interest by FNMA, but are not 
backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Government. FHLMC issues Participation Certificates (“PCs”), which 
are pass-through securities, each representing an undivided interest in a pool of residential mortgages. FHLMC 
guarantees the timely payment of interest and ultimate collection of principal, but PCs are not backed by the full faith 
and credit of the U.S. Government. 
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27. Borrowings and Other Financing transaction 

The following disclosures contain information on the Trust’s ability to lend or borrow cash or securities to the extent 
permitted, which may be viewed as borrowing or financing transactions by the Trust. The location and fair value 
amounts of these instruments are described below. For a detailed description of credit and counterparty risks that 
can be associated with borrowings and other financing transactions, please see Note 29, Financial Instruments Risk. 
 
(a) Sale-Buybacks  
The Trust may enter into financing transactions referred to as ‘sale-buybacks’. A sale-buyback transaction consists 
of a sale of a security by the Trust to a financial institution, the counterparty, with a simultaneous agreement to 
repurchase the same or substantially the same security at an agreed-upon price and date. The Trust is not entitled 
to receive principal and interest payments, if any, made on the security sold to the counterparty during the term of 
the agreement. The agreed-upon proceeds for securities to be repurchased by the Trust are reflected as a liability 
on the Statements of Net Assets.  The Trust will recognize net income represented by the price differential between 
the price received for the transferred security and the agreed-upon repurchase price. This is commonly referred to 
as the ‘price drop’. A price drop consists of (i) the foregone interest and inflationary income adjustments, if any, the 
Trust would have otherwise received had the security not been sold and (ii) the negotiated financing terms between 
the Trust and counterparty. Foregone interest and inflationary income adjustments, if any, are recorded as 
components of interest income on the Statements of Operations. Interest payments based upon negotiated financing 
terms made by the Trust to counterparties are recorded as a component of interest expense on the Statements of 
Operations. In periods of increased demand for the security, the Trust may receive a fee for use of the security by 
the counterparty, which may result in interest income to the Trust. The Trust will segregate assets determined to be 
liquid by PIMCO or will otherwise cover its obligations under sale- buyback transactions. 
 
(b) Short Sales 
The Fund may enter into short sales transactions. A short sale is a transaction in which the Fund sells securities it 
does not own in anticipation of a decline in the market price of the securities. Securities sold in short sale 
transactions and the interest payable on such securities, if any, are reflected as a liability on the Statement of Net 
Assets of the Fund. The Fund is obligated to deliver securities at the market price at the time the short position is 
closed. Possible losses from short sales may be unlimited, whereas losses from purchases cannot exceed the total 
amount invested. 
 
28. Financial Derivative Instruments 

The following disclosures contain information on how and why the Fund uses financial derivative instruments, the 
credit-risk-related contingent features in certain financial derivative instruments, and how financial derivative 
instruments affect the Fund’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows. The financial derivative 
instruments outstanding as of period end and the amounts of realised and changes in unrealised appreciation and 
depreciation on financial derivative instruments during the period as disclosed on the Statement of Operations of the 
Fund serve as indicators of the volume of financial derivative activity for the Fund. 
 
(a) Foreign Currency Contracts 
The Fund may enter into foreign currency contracts in connection with settling planned purchases or sales of 
securities, to hedge the currency exposure associated with some or all of the Fund’s securities or as a part of an 
investment strategy. A foreign currency contract is an agreement between two parties to buy and sell a currency at a 
set price on a future date. The fair value of a foreign currency contract fluctuates with changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates. Foreign currency contracts are marked to market daily and the change in value is recorded by the 
Fund as an unrealised gain or loss. Realised gains or losses equal to the difference between the value of the 
contract at the time it was opened and the value at the time it was closed are recorded upon delivery or receipt of 
the currency. These contracts may involve market risk in excess of the unrealised gain or loss reflected on the 
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Statement of Net Assets of the Fund. In addition, the Fund could be exposed to risk if the counterparties are unable 
to meet the terms of the contracts or if the value of the currency changes unfavorably to the Canadian dollar. In 
connection with these contracts, securities may be identified as collateral in accordance with the terms of the 
respective contracts. 
 
(b) Futures Contracts 
The Fund may enter into futures contracts. The Fund may use futures contracts to manage their exposure to the 
securities markets or to movements in interest rates and currency values. The primary risks associated with the use 
of futures contracts are the imperfect correlation between the change in market value of the securities held by the 
Fund and the prices of futures contracts and the possibility of an illiquid market. Futures contracts are valued based 
upon their quoted daily settlement prices. Upon entering into a futures contract, the Fund are required to deposit 
with their futures broker, an amount of cash, U.S. or Canadian Government and Agency Obligations or select 
sovereign debt in accordance with the initial margin requirements of the broker or exchange. Futures contracts are 
marked to market daily and an appropriate payable or receivable for the change in value (“variation margin”) is 
recorded by the Fund. Gains or losses are recognised but not considered realised until the contracts expire or are 
closed. Futures contracts involve, to varying degrees, risk of loss in excess of the variation margin disclosed on the 
Statement of Net Assets of the Fund. 
 
(c) Options Contracts 
The Fund may write call and put options on securities and financial derivative instruments they own or in which they 
may invest. Writing put options tends to increase the Fund’s exposure to the underlying instrument. Writing call 
options tends to decrease the Fund’s exposure to the underlying instrument. When the Fund writes a call or put, an 
amount equal to the premium received is recorded as a liability and subsequently marked to market to reflect the 
current value of the option written. These liabilities are reflected as written options outstanding on the Statement of 
Net Assets of the Fund. Premiums received from writing options which expire are treated as realised gains. 
Premiums received from writing options which are exercised or closed are added to the proceeds or offset against 
amounts paid on the underlying futures, swap, security or currency transaction to determine the realised gain or 
loss. Certain options may be written with premiums to be determined on a future date. The Fund, as a writer of an 
option, have no control over whether the underlying instrument may be sold (call) or purchased (put) and as a result 
bears the market risk of an unfavorable change in the price of the instrument underlying the written option. There is 
the risk the Fund may not be able to enter into a closing transaction because of an illiquid market. 
 
The Fund may also purchase put and call options. Purchasing call options tends to increase the Fund’s exposure to 
the underlying instrument. Purchasing put options tends to decrease the Fund’s exposure to the underlying 
instrument. The Fund pays a premium which is included on the Fund’s Statement of Net Assets as an investment 
and subsequently marked to market to reflect the current value of the option. Premiums paid for purchasing options 
which expire are treated as realised losses. Certain options may be purchased with premiums to be determined on a 
future date. The premiums for these options are based upon implied volatility parameters at specified terms. The risk 
associated with purchasing put and call options is limited to the premium paid. Premiums paid for purchasing 
options which are exercised or closed are added to the amounts paid or offset against the proceeds on the 
underlying investment transaction to determine the realised gain or loss when the underlying transaction is sold. 
 
Interest Rate Swaptions 
The Fund may enter into interest rate swaption agreements. A swaption is an option to enter into a pre-defined swap 
agreement by some specified date in the future. The writer of the swaption becomes the counterparty to the swap if 
the buyer exercises. The interest rate swaption agreement will specify whether the buyer of the swaption will be a 
fixed-rate receiver or a fixed rate payer. 
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Foreign Currency Options 
The Fund may write or purchase foreign currency options. These options may be used as a short or long hedge 
against possible variations in foreign exchange rates or to gain exposure to foreign currencies. A foreign currency 
option will specify the amount of currency and a rate of exchange that may be exercised by a specified date. 
 
(d) Swap Agreements 
The Fund may invest in swap agreements. Swap agreements are bilaterally negotiated agreements between the 
Fund and a counterparty to exchange or swap investment cash flows, assets, foreign currencies or market-linked 
returns at specified, future intervals. Swap agreements are privately negotiated in the over-the-counter market 
(“OTC swaps”) or may be executed in a multilateral or other trade facility platform, such as a registered exchange 
(“centrally cleared swaps”). The Fund may enter into credit default, cross-currency, interest rate and other forms of 
swap agreements to manage its exposure to credit, currency, interest rate, commodity, equity and inflation risk. In 
connection with these agreements, securities or cash may be identified as collateral or margin in accordance with 
the terms of the respective swap agreements to provide assets of value and recourse in the event of default or 
bankruptcy/insolvency. 
 
Swaps are fair valued daily based upon values from third party vendors, which may include a registered exchange, 
or quotations from market makers to the extent available. In the event that market quotes are not readily available 
and the swap cannot be valued pursuant to one of the valuation methods, the value of the swap will be determined 
in good faith by the Valuation Committee of PIMCO, generally based upon recommendations provided by PIMCO. 
Changes in fair value, if any, are reflected as a component of net changes in unrealised appreciation/ (depreciation) 
on the Statement of Operations of the Fund. Daily changes in valuation of centrally cleared swaps, if any, are 
recorded as a receivable or payable for the change in value as appropriate (“variation margin”) on the Statement of 
Net Assets of the Fund. OTC swap payments received or made at the beginning of the measurement period are 
reflected as such on the Statement of Net Assets of the Fund and represent premiums paid or received upon 
entering into the swap agreement to compensate for differences between the stated terms of the swap agreement 
and prevailing market conditions (credit spreads, currency exchange rates, interest rates, and other relevant 
factors). These upfront premiums are recorded as realised gains or losses on the Statement of Operations of the 
Fund upon termination or maturity of the swap. A liquidation payment received or made at the termination of the 
swap is recorded as realised gain or loss on the Statement of Operations of the Fund. Net periodic payments 
received or paid by the Fund are included as part of realised gains or losses on the Statement of Operations of the 
Fund. 
 
Entering into these agreements involves, to varying degrees, elements of interest, credit, market and documentation 
risk in excess of the amounts recognised on the Statement of Net Assets of the Fund. Such risks involve the 
possibility that there will be no liquid market for these agreements, that the counterparty to the agreements may 
default on its obligation to perform or disagree as to the meaning of contractual terms in the agreements and that 
there may be unfavorable changes in interest rates. 
 
The Fund’s maximum risk of loss from counterparty credit risk is the discounted net value of the cash flows to be 
received from the counterparty over the contract’s remaining life, to the extent that amount is positive. The risk is 
mitigated by having a master netting arrangement between the Fund and the counterparty and by the posting of 
collateral to the Fund to cover the Fund’s exposure to the counterparty. 
 
Credit Default Swap Agreements 
Credit default swap agreements involve one party making a stream of payments (referred to as the buyer of 
protection) to another party (the seller of protection) in exchange for the right to receive a specified return in the 
event of a default or other credit event for the referenced entity, obligation or index. As a seller of protection on credit 
default swap agreements, the Fund will generally receive from the buyer of protection a fixed rate of income 
throughout the term of the swap provided that there is no credit event. As the seller, the Fund would effectively add 
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leverage to their portfolios because, in addition to their total net assets, the Fund would be subject to investment 
exposure on the notional amount of the swap.  
 
If the Fund is a seller of protection and a credit event occurs, as defined under the terms of that particular swap 
agreement, the Fund will either (i) pay to the buyer of protection an amount equal to the notional amount of the swap 
and take delivery of the referenced obligation, other deliverable obligations or underlying securities comprising the 
referenced index or (ii) pay a net settlement amount in the form of cash or securities equal to the notional amount of 
the swap less the recovery value of the referenced obligation or underlying securities comprising the referenced 
index. If the Fund is a buyer of protection and a credit event occurs, as defined under the terms of that particular 
swap agreement, the Fund will either (i) receive from the seller of protection an amount equal to the notional amount 
of the swap and deliver the referenced obligation, other deliverable obligations or underlying securities comprising 
the referenced index or (ii) receive a net settlement amount in the form of cash or securities equal to the notional 
amount of the swap less the recovery value of the referenced obligation or underlying securities comprising the 
referenced index. Recovery values are estimated by market makers considering either industry standard recovery 
rates or entity specific factors and considerations until a credit event occurs. If a credit event has occurred, the 
recovery value is determined by a facilitated auction whereby a minimum number of allowable broker bids, together 
with a specified valuation method, are used to calculate the settlement value.  
 
Credit default swap agreements on corporate issues or sovereign involve one party making a stream of payments to 
another party in exchange for the right to receive a specified return in the event of a default or other credit event. If a 
credit event occurs and cash settlement is not elected, a variety of other deliverable obligations may be delivered in 
lieu of the specific referenced obligation. The ability to deliver other obligations may result in a cheapest-to-deliver 
option (the buyer of protection’s right to choose the deliverable obligation with the lowest value following a credit 
event). The Fund may use credit default swaps on corporate issues or sovereign issues to provide a measure of 
protection against defaults of the issuers (i.e., to reduce risk where the Fund own or have exposure to the 
referenced obligation) or to take an active long or short position with respect to the likelihood of a particular issuer’s 
default.  
 
Credit default swap agreements on credit indices involve one party making a stream of payments to another party in 
exchange for the right to receive a specified return in the event of a write-down, principal shortfall, interest shortfall 
or default of all or part of the referenced entities comprising the credit index. A credit index is a basket of credit 
instruments or exposures designed to be representative of some part of the credit market as a whole. These indices 
are made up of reference credits that are judged by a poll of dealers to be the most liquid entities in the credit default 
swap market based on the sector of the index. Components of the indices may include, but are not limited to, 
investment grade securities, high yield securities, asset-backed securities, emerging markets, and/or various credit 
ratings within each sector. Credit indices are traded using credit default swaps with standardised terms including a 
fixed spread and standard maturity dates. An index credit default swap references all the names in the index, and if 
there is a default, the credit event is settled based on that name’s weight in the index. The composition of the indices 
changes periodically, usually every six months, and for most indices, each name has an equal weight in the index. 
The Fund may use credit default swaps on credit indices to hedge a portfolio of credit default swaps or bonds, which 
is less expensive than it would be to buy many credit default swaps to achieve a similar effect. Credit default swaps 
on indices are benchmarks for protecting investors owning bonds against default, and traders use them to speculate 
on changes in credit quality. 
 
The maximum potential amount of future payments (undiscounted) that the Fund as a seller of protection could be 
required to make under a credit default swap agreement would be an amount equal to the notional amount of the 
agreement. These potential amounts would be partially offset by any recovery values of the respective referenced 
obligations, upfront payments received upon entering into the agreement, or net amounts received from the 
settlement of buy protection credit default swap agreements entered into by the Fund for the same referenced entity 
or entities. 
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Interest Rate Swap Agreements 
The Fund is subject to interest rate risk exposure in the normal course of pursuing its investment objectives. 
Because the Fund holds fixed rate bonds, the value of these bonds may decrease if interest rates rise. To help 
hedge against this risk and to maintain its ability to generate income at prevailing market rates, the Fund may enter 
into interest rate swap agreements. Interest rate swap agreements involve the exchange by the Fund with another 
party for its respective commitment to pay or receive interest on the notional amount of principal. Certain forms of 
interest rate swap agreements may include: (i) interest rate caps, under which, in return for a premium, one party 
agrees to make payments to the other to the extent that interest rates exceed a specified rate, or “cap”, (ii) interest 
rate floors, under which, in return for a premium, one party agrees to make payments to the other to the extent that 
interest rates fall below a specified rate, or “floor”, (iii) interest rate collars, under which a party sells a cap and 
purchases a floor or vice versa in an attempt to protect itself against interest rate movements exceeding given 
minimum or maximum levels, (iv) callable interest rate swaps, under which the counterparty may terminate the swap 
transaction in whole at zero cost by a predetermined date and time prior to the maturity date, (v) spreadlocks, which 
allow the interest rate swap users to lock in the forward differential (or spread) between the interest rate swap rate 
and a specified benchmark, or (vi) basis swap, under which two parties can exchange variable interest rates based 
on different money markets.  
 
29. Financial Instruments Risk 

The main risks arising from the Fund’s financial instruments are other price, interest rate, foreign currency, liquidity 
and credit risks. 
 
Other Price Risk 
Other price risk arises mainly from uncertainty about future prices of financial instruments held. It represents the 
potential loss the Fund might suffer through holding market positions in the face of adverse price movements. The 
Investment Manager considers the asset allocation of the portfolios in order to minimise the risk associated with 
particular countries or industry sectors whilst continuing to follow the Fund’s investment objectives. 
 
The Investment Manager uses a number of quantitative techniques to assess the impact of market risks including 
credit events, changes in interest rates, credit spreads and recovery values on the Fund’s investment portfolio. 
 
The Investment Manager uses Value at Risk (“VaR”) analysis, a technique widely used by financial institutions to 
quantify, assess, and report market risk. VaR is a statistical framework that supports the quantification of market risk 
within a portfolio at a specified confidence interval over a defined holding period. VaR seeks to quantify the expected 
maximum dollar losses that may result from the interactive behaviour of all material market prices, spreads, 
volatilities, and rates based on the historically observed relationships between these markets. 
 
PIMCO monitors portfolio risk using market factor exposures on a daily basis. Potential market risk is calculated 
using the parametric delta-normal or factor model approach. VaR is calculated and reported automatically each day 
using the fair value and market information of the most recent business day. Depending on the application of the risk 
statistics, various confidence levels (such as 99%) and time horizons (weeks or months) might be selected. 
 
In addition to daily VaR measures, three types of stress tests are also conducted for the Fund. The first test includes 
scenario duration tests that measure what happens to the value of the portfolio if unexpected movements in yields 
occur in the market. The second test involves a database of historical crisis scenarios that can be executed to test 
reactions to these crises. The historical crisis scenarios contain many unexpected changes in market conditions and 
correlation matrices. The third test involves correlation matrices which can be manipulated manually to reflect 
conditions that may happen in the future, but have not happened so far. 
The daily VaR measures are an estimate of the portfolio loss over the next one month period that would not be 
exceeded 99% of the time, relative to the assumptions of the VaR model. 
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The table below summarises the potential maximum risk of loss, or the VaR, for the portfolio as at December 31, 
2012 and 2011.  
 
  

 VaR % of Net Assets 
December 31, 2012 1,892 1.171 
December 31, 2011 2,303 1.586 

 
Not all risks to which the Fund’s investment portfolio may be exposed are intended to be captured by VaR and, in 
particular, the framework does not seek to capture liquidity risk, counterparty credit risk, or extreme credit events 
such as an issuer default. In practice, the actual trading results will differ from the VaR and may not provide a 
meaningful indication of profits and losses in stressed market conditions. To determine the reliability of the VaR 
models, actual outcomes are monitored to test the validity of the assumptions and parameters used in the VaR 
calculation. Market risk positions are also subject to regular stress tests to ensure that the Fund would withstand an 
extreme market event. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that fixed income securities will decline in value because of changes in interest rates. As 
nominal interest rates rise, the value of certain fixed income securities held by the Fund are likely to decrease. A 
nominal interest rate can be described as the sum of a real interest rate and an expected inflation rate. Fixed income 
securities with longer durations tend to be more sensitive to changes in interest rates, usually making them more 
volatile than securities with shorter durations. Duration is useful primarily as a measure of the sensitivity of a fixed 
income’s market price to interest rate (i.e. yield) movements. 
 
The tables below summarise the Fund’s exposure to interest rate risk. It includes the Fund’s financial instruments at 
fair value, categorised by the earlier of contractual re-pricing or maturity dates. Certain assets and liabilities, as 
presented in the Statement of Net Assets of the Fund, have been netted for purposes of the presentation below. 
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As at December 31, 
2012 
Assets  

Less than 
3 months 

3 months - 1 
year 1– 5 years 

Greater than 
5 years 

Non-
interest 
bearing 

 
Total 

Financial assets 24,364 1,982 79,051 54,505 721 160,623 
Cash - - - - 911 911 
Deposit with 
counterparties - - - - 416 416 
Receivables - - - - 964 964 
Total Assets 24,364 1,982 79,051 54,505 3,012 162,914 
       
As at December 31, 
2012 
Liabilities  

Less than 
3 months 

3 months - 1 
year 1– 5 years 

Greater than 
5 years 

Non-
interest 
bearing 

 
Total 

Investments & 
derivatives - - - - (623) (623) 
Payables - - - - (18) (18) 
Deposit from 
counterparties - - - - (677) (677) 
Total Liabilities - - - - (1,318) (1,318) 

 
As at December 31, 
2011 
Assets  

Less than 
3 months 

3 months - 1 
year 1– 5 years 

Greater than 
5 years 

Non-
interest 
bearing 

 
Total 

Financial assets 8,611  2,332  65,609  71,360  3,151  151,063  
Cash -  - - - 1,557  1,557  
Deposit with 
counterparties 

- - - - 871  871  

Receivables - - - - 4,692  4,692  
Total Assets 8,611  2,332  65,609  71,360  10,271  158,183  
 
As at December 31, 
2011 
Liabilities  

Less than 
3 months 

3 months - 1 
year 1– 5 years 

Greater than 
5 years 

Non-
interest 
bearing 

 
Total 

Investments & 
derivatives  - - (114)  (3,293) 

(532) (3,939) 

Payables - - -  -  (7,072) (7,072) 
Deposit from 
counterparties 

- - -  -  (1,945) (1,945) 

Total Liabilities - - (114)  (3,293) (9,549) (12,956) 
 

Foreign Currency Risk 
A portion of the financial instruments of the Fund are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of 
the Fund with the effect that the financial position can be significantly affected by currency movements.  
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The following tables set out the total exposure to foreign currency risk other than the functional currency in the Fund 
as at December 31, 2012 and 2011. 
 

 
 
December 31, 2012 

 
Total 

$ 
Hedging 

$ 
Net 

$ 
    
Australian Dollar 2  (1,609) (1,607) 
Brazilian Real - 798 798 
British Pound 3,120 (3,029) 91 
Chinese Yuan Renminbi - 8 8 
Euro 3,379 (5,105) (1,726) 
Japanese Yen 1 (2,375) (2,374) 
Mexican Peso 5,986 (5,954) 32 
Norewegian Krone 2 - 2 
South African Rand 3,718 (3,693) 25 
United States Dollar 28,753 (26,096) 2,657 

 $44,961 $(47,055) $(2,094) 
 
 

 
December 31, 2011 

Total 
$ 

Hedging 
$ 

Net 
$ 

Australian Dollar 267  (426) (159) 
Brazilian Real - 2 2 
British Pound 8,573 (8,328) 245 
Chinese Yuan Renminbi - 2,812 2,812 
Euro 10,144 (11,484) (1,340) 
Japanese Yen 37 - 37 
Korean Won - 8 8 
Mexican Peso 9,280 (9,384) (104) 
Philippine Peso - (1) (1) 
Singapore Dollar - 1 1 
United States Dollar 38,311 (39,516) (1,205) 

 $66,612 $(66,316) $296 
 
As at December 31, 2012, if the Canadian dollar had strengthened or weakened by 5% in relation to all foreign 
currencies, with all other factors remaining constant, Net Assets could possibly have decreased or increased by 
approximately $105 (2011: $15). In practice, actual results may differ from this sensitivity analysis and the difference 
could be material. 
 
Liquidity Risk 
The Fund’s exposure to liquidity risk is primarily affected by the daily redemption of units. Participating unitholders 
may redeem some or all of their outstanding units at any time without notice thus; the Fund’s assets primarily 
comprise readily realisable securities, which can be readily sold. Liquidity risk exists when particular investments are 
difficult to purchase or sell. The Fund’s investments in illiquid securities may reduce returns of the Fund because 
they may be unable to sell the illiquid securities at an advantageous time or price. Funds with principal investment 
strategies that involve foreign securities, derivatives, or securities with substantial market and/or credit risk tend to 
have the greatest exposure to liquidity risk. 
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Current liabilities of financial derivative instruments consist of the fair value of interest rate swaps, credit default 
swaps, cross-currency swaps, written options, and forward currency contracts as of yearend. Financial derivative 
instruments are acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. As the instruments are not expected 
to be held to maturity or termination, the current fair value represents the estimated cash flow that may be required 
to dispose of the positions. Future cash flows of the Fund and realised liabilities may differ from current liabilities 
based on changes in market conditions. 
 
The Investment Manager manages liquidity risk by monitoring the Fund’s investment portfolio and considering 
investments deemed to be illiquid or not readily and easily sold, to ensure there are sufficient liquid assets to cover 
the outstanding liabilities of the Fund. The following tables summarise the current known liabilities for the Fund by 
the expected payment dates of those liabilities: less than three months, three months to one year, and greater than 
one year, if applicable. 
 
As at  December 31, 2012  
Current Liabilities  

Statement 
of Net 

Assets 
Less than 3 

Months 
3 Months - 1 

year Total 

Financial Derivative Instruments 623 621 2 623 
Payable for investments purchased 1 1 - 1 
Swap interest payable 2 2 - 2 
Deposits with counterparties 677 677 - 677 
Accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities 15 15 - 15 

Total liabilities $1,318 $1,316 $2 $1,318 
 
As at  December 31, 2011  
Current Liabilities  

Statement 
of Net 

Assets 
Less than 3 

Months 
3 Months - 1 

year Total 

Financial Derivative Instruments 1,468 1,468 - 1,468 
Payable for investments purchased 7,043 7,043 - 7,043 
Payable for short sales 2,471 2,471 - 2,471 
Swap interest payable 11 11 - 11 
Deposits with counterparties 1,945 1,945 - 1,945 
Accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities 18 18 - 18 

Total liabilities $12,956 $12,956 - $12,956 
 
Credit and Counterparty Risks 
The Fund will be exposed to credit risk on parties with whom they trade and will also bear the risk of settlement 
default. The Fund minimises concentrations of credit risk by undertaking transactions with a large number of 
customers and counterparties on recognised and reputable exchanges. The Fund could lose money if the issuer or 
guarantor of a fixed income security, or the counterparty to a financial derivatives contract, repurchase agreement or 
a loan of portfolio securities, is unable or unwilling to make timely principal and/or interest payments, or to otherwise 
honor its obligations. Securities are subject to varying degrees of credit risk, which are often reflected in credit 
ratings. 
 
Similar to credit risk, the Fund may be exposed to counterparty risk, or the risk that an institution or other entity with 
which the Fund have unsettled or open transactions will default. Financial assets, which potentially expose the Fund 
to counterparty risk, consist principally of cash due from counterparties and investments. PIMCO, as the investment 
adviser, minimises counterparty risks to the Fund by performing extensive reviews of each counterparty and 
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obtaining approval from the PIMCO Counterparty Risk Committee prior to entering into transactions with a third 
party. Furthermore, to the extent that unpaid amounts owed to the Fund exceed a predetermined threshold agreed 
to with the counterparty, such counterparty shall advance collateral to the Fund in the form of cash or cash 
equivalents equal in value to the unpaid amount owed to the Fund. The Fund may invest such collateral in securities 
or other instruments and will typically pay interest to the counterparty on the collateral received. If the unpaid amount 
owed to the Fund subsequently decreases, the Fund would be required to return to the counterparty all or a portion 
of the collateral previously advanced to the Fund. 
 
All transactions in listed securities are settled/paid for upon delivery using approved counterparties. The risk of 
default is considered minimal, as delivery of securities sold is only made once the Fund has received payment. 
Payment is made on a purchase once the securities have been delivered by the counterparty. The trade will fail if 
either party fails to meet its obligation. 
 
The Fund is subject to various Master Agreements, which govern the terms of certain transactions with select 
counterparties. These Master Agreements reduce the counterparty risk associated with relevant transactions by 
specifying credit protection mechanisms and providing standardisation that improves legal certainty. Since different 
types of forward and OTC financial derivative transactions have different mechanics and are sometimes traded out 
of different legal entities of a particular counterparty organisation, each type of transaction may be covered by a 
different Master Agreement and result in the need for multiple agreements with a single counterparty. Therefore, 
exposure cannot be netted and collateralised across all types of transactions. Exposures can only be netted across 
transactions governed under the same Master Agreement with the same legal entity. 
 
Master Agreements can also help limit counterparty risk by specifying collateral posting arrangements at pre-
arranged exposure levels. Under the Master Agreements, collateral is routinely transferred if the total net exposure 
to certain transactions (net of existing collateral already in place) governed under the relevant Master Agreement 
with a counterparty in a given account exceeds a specified threshold, which typically ranges from zero to $250,000 
depending on the counterparty and the type of Master Agreement. United States Treasury bills and U.S. dollar cash 
are generally the preferred forms of collateral, although other forms of AAA rated paper may be used. The Fund’s 
overall exposure to counterparty risk can change substantially within a short period, as it is affected by each 
transaction subject to the relevant Master Agreement. 
 
Master Securities Forward Transaction Agreements (“Master Forward Agreements”) govern the considerations and 
factors surrounding the settlement of certain purchases and sales made on a delayed-delivery basis by and between 
the Fund and select counterparties. The Master Forward Agreements maintain provisions for, among other things, 
initiation and confirmation, payment and transfer, events of default, termination, and maintenance of collateral.  
 
International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. Master Agreements (“ISDA Master Agreements”) govern OTC 
financial derivative transactions entered into by the Fund and select counterparties. The ISDA Master Agreements 
maintain provisions for general obligations, representations, agreements, collateral and events of default or 
termination. Events of termination include conditions that may entitle counterparties to elect to terminate early and 
cause settlement of all outstanding transactions under the applicable ISDA Master Agreement. Any election to early 
terminate could be material to the financial statements. 
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The table below summarises the credit rating composition for the Fund’s Net Assets. 
 

 December 31, 
2012 

December 31, 
2011 

A1/P1 7% 2% 
AAA 53% 47% 
AA 18% 25% 
A 5% 9% 
BAA 12% 11% 
BB 3% 3% 
B 2% 3% 
Total 100% 100% 
Average Credit Quality AA AA- 

 
Credit ratings are obtained from Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s. When more than one rating is obtained for a 
security, the highest rating has been used. 
 
30. Unitholders’ Equity 

The Fund may issue units of a single class, which shall entitle the holders thereof to the rights and subject them to 
certain limitations, restrictions and conditions. The number of Units authorised to be issued by the Fund is unlimited. 
Fund units are sold, and are redeemable at the holder’s option, in accordance with the provisions of the Fund 
Agreement at the prevailing net asset value per unit. 
 
The Fund’s capital is represented by their unitholders’ equity. There are no externally imposed restrictions on the 
Fund’s capital. Refer to Note 30 for information regarding the management of the Fund’s capital. 
 
A notional distribution results in the Fund declaring a distribution of additional units, then completing a concurrent 
unit consolidation such that the number of units outstanding after a consolidation is identical to the number of units 
held before the distribution was paid. 
 
31. Fund Management and Fees 

PIMCO Canada Corp. is the Investment Manager of the Fund having responsibility for the investment of the assets 
of the Fund. Unitholders pay the Investment Manager the investment management fees directly as set forth in the 
Fund’s offering memorandum. The Investment Manager, and not the unitholders, is responsible for paying any sub-
advisory fees payable to PIMCO. 
 
The Fund pay PIMCO Canada an Administration Fee of 0.10% plus Harmonised Sales Tax (“HST”) per annum of 
their average daily net assets, accrued daily and payable monthly. PIMCO Canada is responsible for paying all of 
the Fund’s operating costs and expenses; including trustee, custody and audit fees, but excluding brokerage 
commissions, interest, taxes, foreign withholding tax and extraordinary expenses, such as litigation. 
 
The Trustee holds sole legal title to all property of the Fund in trust for the unitholders and is responsible for the 
management of the Fund. The Trustee is entitled under the terms of the Declaration of Trust to delegate any or all of 
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its powers as Trustee. The Trustee has appointed its affiliate, State Street Bank and Trust Company, to provide 
custody and accounting services for the Fund. The Fund does not pay for the distribution of units. 
 
32. Broker Commissions and Soft Dollar Contracts 

For the periods ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Fund incurred total brokerage commissions in the amount 
of $2 (2011: $4) to dealers in connection with portfolio transactions. 
 
Soft dollar commissions are arrangements under which products or services other than execution of securities 
transactions are obtained by an adviser from or through a broker-dealer in exchange for the direction by the adviser 
of client brokerage transactions to the broker-dealer. All brokerage commissions incurred by the Fund are used to 
pay for trade execution only and no soft dollar arrangements exist. 
 
33. Exemption from Regulatory Filing Requirements 

National Instrument 81-106 - Investment Funds Continuous Disclosure allows for investment funds categorised as 
non-reporting issuers to take advantage of an exemption from the requirement to file annual and interim financial 
statements with the relevant regulatory authority as per Section 2.11 of the Instrument. The Fund, as a non-reporting 
issuer, is relying on this exemption not to file its financial statements. 
 
34. Income Taxes 

The Fund is an open-ended unit trust as defined in the Income Tax Act (Canada). All net income for tax purposes 
and taxable net realised capital gains will be distributed to the unitholders in the calendar year, and will eliminate any 
liability for income taxes for the Fund. 
 
Capital losses realised by the Fund may be carried forward indefinitely and used to reduce future taxable capital 
gains. Non-capital losses may be carried forward up to twenty years and used to reduce future taxable income or 
taxable capital gains. As of December 31, 2012, the Trust had no unused non-capital losses and has the following 
capital losses that are carried forward.$7,705 (2011:$6,367). 
 
35. Regulatory and Litigation Matters 

The Fund is not engaged in any material litigation or arbitration proceedings and is not aware of any material 
litigation or claim pending or threatened by or against it. 
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